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Eve r yone de se r ve s a 
Healthier Tomorrow



With over 30 years of pharmaceutical experience under its belt, Kotra Pharma is well on its way to achieve its mission to be the centre of excellence 
for the pharmaceutical industry. Having grown from a Malaysian brand to globally recognised in over 30 countries, Kotra Pharma’s rapid progress 
did not go unnoticed.

Kotra Pharma received one of the highest forms of acknowledgement from the National Pharmaceutical Control Bureau, Ministry of Health 
Malaysia., whereby the company was nominated and awarded the inaugural Industry Excellence Award 2012, for its leadership in the field of Good 
Manufacturing Practice (GMP).

Along with this recognition, Kotra Pharma was bestowed twice the title Malaysia Pharmaceutical Company Of The Year for 2011 & 2014 by Frost & 
Sullivan, a US-based consulting firm, for its leadership in customer value and innovation.

These accolades serve to further establish Kotra Pharma’s presence within the pharmaceutical industry as well as encourage us as a company to 
continuously grow and seek better product innovation, manufacturing excellence and geographical expansion to bring accessible healthcare to all.

This effort, true to our vision of Humanising Health where we believe everyone deserves a healthier tomorrow, is further supported by Kotra 
Pharma’s commitment to deliver quality medicines to healthcare providers worldwide by applying cutting edge pharmaceutical research and 
manufacturing technology.

To date, our pharmaceutical (Axcel® and Vaxcel®) and nutraceutical products (Appeton®), have globally benefitted patients and communities as we 
continue to grow, seeking new and improved ways to constantly fulfil our healthcare needs in an ever changing environment.

Committed to our vision, we have invested USD50 million in the first phase of a total USD150 million state-of-the-art manufacturing and research 
facilities, which constitute the largest single-investment in the Malaysia pharmaceutical industry to date.

At Kotra Pharma, your patient’s health is our priority.



CORE VALUES

We act with integrity
We deliver on commitment
We are customer oriented
We work with passion and strong team spirit
We believe everything is possible



To be the centre 
of excellence for 

the pharmaceutical 
industry

VISION MISSION

Humanising Health
Everyone deserves a 
healthier tomorrow
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directors’ profile

AZHAR BIN HUSSAIN
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
61, Malaysian
Date appointed: 12 November 2007

Board Committee memberships:
•	 Audit Committee
•	 Chairman, Employees’ Share Option Scheme Committee
•	 Chairman, Nomination Committee 
•	 Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Academic qualification and honours:
•	 Bachelor of Pharmacy (Hons) (University of Wales, United 

Kingdom)

Experience and career path:
•	 House Pharmacist, Glaxo Malaysia in 1976
•	 Production Executive, Glaxo Malaysia in 1977
•	 Assistant Manager, Glaxo Malaysia in 1981
•	 Production Manager, Glaxo Malaysia in 1983
•	 Technical Manager, Glaxo Malaysia, Glaxo Pakistan in 1989
•	 Technical Director, Glaxo Malaysia in 1993
•	 Board of Director, Glaxo Malaysia in 1993
•	 Executive Director, Intercircle Holdings Sdn Bhd in 1994
•	 Managing Director, Pharmaniaga Manufacturing Berhad and 

later Executive Director, Pharmaniaga Berhad from 1994 - 
2003

•	 Managing Director, Pharmaniaga Berhad from 2003 – 2006
•	 Senior Director, UEM Group in 2007 
•	 Business Development Consultant, Technology Park Malaysia 

in 2008
•	 Head, TPM Biotech Sdn Bhd from 2008 – 2010
•	 Director and Senior Principal Consultant, Neoconsult Sdn Bhd 

from 2010 – present
•	 Director, IKOP Sdn Bhd from 2013 - Present

PIONG TECK ONN 
Managing Director
57, Malaysian
Date appointed: 5 June 2000

Board Committee memberships:
•	 Remuneration Committee
•	 Employees’ Share Option Scheme Committee

Academic qualification:
•	 Bachelor of Science in Pharmacy (University of Wales, United 

Kingdom)

Experience and career path:
•	 Began his career in retail and wholesale pharmaceutical 

business at City Chemist & Asia Pharmacy
•	 Pioneering the development of manufacturing, research and 

development and marketing departments of Kotra Pharma (M) 
Sdn Bhd (KPM)

•	 Responsible for introducing various conventional dosage 
forms ranging from tablets, capsules, creams and ointments, 
wet and dry syrups and injectables, both aseptically and 
terminally sterilised

•	 Managing Director responsible for the Group’s overall 
operations, business strategic directions and driving the 
Group’s initiatives towards achieving its various set goals

Committee served:
•	 Chairman of the ASEAN Pharmaceutical Industry Club (APC) 

(2008-2009)

Association and affiliation:
•	 Past President (2008-2009) and Executive Council Member 

(1998-2013) of the Malaysian Organisation of Pharmaceutical 
Industries (MOPI)

 
Relationships with other Directors/Substantial Shareholders:
•	 Brother to Piong Teck Min and Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen
•	 Married to Chin Swee Chang
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directors’ profile

PIONG TECK MIN
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
62, Malaysian
Date appointed: 5 June 2000

Board Committee memberships:
•	 Audit Committee
•	 Nomination Committee
•	 Remuneration Committee

Academic qualification:
•	 Malaysian Certificate of Education

Experience and career path:
•	 Handled the pharmaceutical wholesale business of KOT in 

1970
•	 Managing Director of Lonnix (M) Sdn Bhd, specialising in broad 

range traditional medicine
•	 Well-versed with the intricacies of the local pharmaceutical 

trade
•	 Built a good business network with Malaysian wholesalers in 

the pharmaceutical trade

Relationships with other Directors/Substantial Shareholders:
•	 Brother of Piong Teck Onn and Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen
•	 Brother-in-law of Chin Swee Chang
•	 Father of Piong Chee Kien

Y. BHG. DATUK PIONG TECK YEN
Executive Director
47, Malaysian
Date appointed: 5 June 2000

Academic qualification:
•	 Lewisham College, United Kingdom

Experience and career path:
•	 Responsible for marketing and sales activities of KOT in 1989
•	 Sales Manager of KPM in 1989 
•	 Marketing Manager of KPM in 1995 and was instrumental in 

formulating and implementing promotions aimed at creating 
brand awareness 

•	 Current Business Director responsible for the development of 
exports and international marketing activities of the Group

Awards:
•	 DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP

Relationships with other Directors/Substantial Shareholders:
•	 Brother of Piong Teck Min and Piong Teck Onn
•	 Brother-in-law of Chin Swee Chang
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directors’ profile

CHIN SWEE CHANG
Executive Director
57, Malaysian
Date appointed: 5 June 2000

Academic qualification:
•	 Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Data Processing (University of 

Leeds, United Kingdom)

Experience and career path:
•	 Programmer at Systems Automation Sdn Bhd in 1982, 

involved in development, implementation, user-training and 
maintenance of insurance software 

•	 Analyst Programmer at Eastern Systems Design Sdn Bhd in 
1984, responsible in the development and maintenance for 
general accounting, insurance broking, hire purchase/leasing 
software

•	 Head of the Electronic Data Processing Department at Robert 
Bosch (South East Asia) Pte Ltd in 1987, responsible for user 
support system coordination; coordination/ liaison of system 
information with regional office and headquarters in Germany. 
Helped to coordinate, convert, transfer data and system 
migration from Nixdorf to IBM AS/400 system in 1991 

•	 IT Manager of KPM in 1993. Transformed the computerisation 
of the entire business from a stand-alone personal computer 
(PC) environment to a local area network PC multi-user system, 
with fully integrated material requirements planning, financial 
and distribution software. Coordinated and implemented a 
new, fully integrated Symix MRP (US) package on PROGRESS 
database platform in 1997. Set-up an in-house IT team to 
support the growing number of users and computer systems in 
2001. Since then, Symix system has gone through two rounds of 
upgrades. Symix was renamed as Syteline where the database 
was converted to MS SQL. Was also responsible for setting up 
Shipping Department and ensuring the smooth operations of 
order processing and administration departments. 

•	 Was promoted to the current position, Chief Information Officer 
responsible for overseeing the operations, development and 
enhancement of Management Information Systems, Order 
Processing and Administration departments

•	 Was the Project Manager for the SAP project implementation 
which started in November 2008 and went live as scheduled 
in July 2009. Modules of SD, MM, FICO, and partial PP were 
implemented together to replace the legacy Infor ERP Syteline 
system

•	 With the stabilisation of the SAP core modules, embarked 
on “Leverage on IT” projects to automate management 
information and reporting to support decisions making

•	 Roll out Mobile Sales Ordering using iPads for sales team 
during this financial year. All information on customers are 
available on the palm of the sales representatives. 

Relationships with other Directors/Substantial Shareholders:
•	 Sister-in-law of Piong Teck Min and Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck 

Yen
•	 Married to Piong Teck Onn

P’NG BENG HOE
Independent Non-Executive Director
69, Malaysian
Date appointed: 22 August 2007

Board Committee memberships:
•	 Chairman, Audit Committee
•	 Employees’ Share Option Scheme Committee
•	 Nomination Committee
•	 Remuneration Committee

Professional qualification:
•	 Chartered Accountant

Experience and career path:
•	 Former Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
•	 Chartered Accountant with accumulated and extensive 

experience in audit, taxation, public listing of companies, 
management consultancy, corporate restructuring for a wide 
range of industrial and commercial companies in the public 
and private sectors including multinational corporations and 
government corporate bodies

Awards:
•	 BKT, PJK, JP

Associations and affiliations:
•	 Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
•	 Member of CPA Australia
•	 Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA)
•	 Member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (MICPA)
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directors’ profile

PIONG CHEE KIEN
Alternate Director to PIONG TECK MIN
35, Malaysian
Date appointed: 25 November 2010

Academic qualification:
•	 BSc in Telecommunications Engineering (London)
•	 MSc in e-Commerce Engineering (London)

Experience and career path:
•	 Brand Executive at KPM from November 2005 to October 

2006 and was actively involved in planning and implementing 
brand marketing and trade strategies aimed at increasing 
brand performance

•	 Current General Manager of Lonnix (M) Sdn Bhd, specialising 
in broad range of traditional medicine, food supplement and 
effervescent products

Relationships with other Directors/Substantial Shareholders:
•	 Son of Piong Teck Min
•	 Nephew to Piong Teck Onn, Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen and 

Chin Swee Chang

Note:-

1.	 None of the Directors has any conflict of interest with Kotra Industries Berhad.

2.	 None of the Directors has been convicted for any offences for the past 10 years (other than traffic offences, if any).
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financial highlights

	 2010 	 2011 	 2012 	 2013 	 2014
	 (RM’000) 	 (RM’000) 	 (RM’000) 	 (RM’000) 	 (RM’000)

Revenue 	  102,357 	 112,841 	 126,943 	 131,294	 147,371 
Revenue Growth(%) 	 13.7% 	 10.2% 	 12.5% 	 3.4%	 12.2%

Profit before tax	 12,466 	 (2,079) 	 1,178 	 3,829	 5,765 
Profit after tax 	 11,721	  (2,139) 	 1,122 	 3,687	 5,660 
Shareholders’ equity 	 102,827 	 100,694 	 102,135 	 107,979	 119,063 

Per Share
Basic earnings (sen)	 9.47 	 (1.73) 	 0.91 	 2.89	 4.29 
Net assets (RM) 	 0.83 	 0.81	  0.82	 0.85	 0.90 

Financial Ratio
Gearing ratio 	  1.12 	 1.18 	 1.23 	 1.17	 1.02 
Return on assets (%) 	 4.83% 	 -0.87% 	 0.44% 	 1.40%	 2.08%
Return on equity (%) 	 11.40% 	 -2.12% 	 1.10% 	 3.41%	 4.75%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

First and foremost, I would like to take this opportunity to introduce myself as the newly appointed 
Chairman by the Board of Directors. As your Chairman it is a great honour and privilege for me 
to helm the Group and continue to steer the Group to greater heights. It is a challenging role to 
�ll especially taking over from such an eminent and distinguished leader to whom I also wish to 
extend my gratitude to our previous Chairman Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman 
for heading Kotra Industries Berhad (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), for the 
past 14 years. Words could not express my heartfelt pleasure in being part of Y. Bhg. Tan Sri 
Datuk Dr. Omar’s team. 

I strongly believe that my years of experience within the pharmaceutical industry, will serve the 
organisation well and I do look forward to leverage these experience with the current Board of 
Directors as we forge ahead for the new year. 

Already, we are reaping the bene�ts of our joint efforts, when the Group was recognised for the second time 
as the “Pharmaceutical Company of the Year 2014” by Frost and Sullivan, a US-based consulting �rm. This 
acknowledgment is a testament to the success of our sound business strategies, astute management and a well-
trained competent team.

On this note, I am pleased to present you with our annual report for the �nancial year ended 30 June 2014.

AZHaR BIN HUSSaIN
Independent Non-Executive Chairman 

Dear Shareholders,
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chairman’s statement

GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

This financial year was indeed an exciting year for us. With a growth of 12.2%, the Group recorded a profit before tax of RM5.8 million 
as compared to the profit before tax of RM3.8 million in the previous financial year, a surge of 151%. 

In the previous year, we focused on further improvement in our operational efficiencies and cost containment. This was one of the major 
contributing factors to the rise in profit. Subsequently, the Group is looking to further streamline this area to ensure that it is operating 
at its optimum efficiency level. 

For this period under review, the Group’s total revenue increased to RM147.4 million from RM131.3 million in the preceding year. This 
increase in revenue was firstly contributed by domestic sales revenue of RM96.9 million, with a growth of 8.2%. This revenue growth 
was mainly due to the introduction of new products and growth in our pharmaceutical sales division. 

Secondly, the Group recorded RM50.5 million for its overseas sales revenue as compared to the preceding year’s RM41.8 million, a 
significant 20.8% growth. This is mainly due to the resolution of trading issues encountered in prior financial year.

MANUFACTURING EXCELLENCE

We are currently on track with our manufacturing expansion plan. We are now in the midst of commissioning a new Sterile/Pre-filled 
syringe Manufacturing Line which is targeted for completion by end of 2014. 

In addition to the smooth progress of expansion of our manufacturing plant, we were recognised by Frost & Sullivan as the “Pharmaceutical 
Company of the year 2014”. This award was conferred to us in recognition of our stewardship in manufacturing excellence and customer 
value as well as innovation.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXCELLENCE

Our Research and Development team has contributed significantly by further growing our already extensive product range. 

For this financial year, our pharmaceutical division have successfully launched three (3) new products namely Axcel Mometasone Cream 
and Ointment, Axcel Prednisolone as well as Vaxcel Cefobactam, the first locally manufactured generic antibiotics which comprised 
3rd Generation Cephalosporin and Sulbactam. It is recognised as a broad spectrum antibiotics which exert its anti-bacterial effect by 
preventing the bacterial cell wall synthesis.

To address the current health trend and growing market needs, we have further strengthened our Nutrition range with the launch of 
Appeton Wellness Recovery in January 2014. This is the first and only complete nutritional beverage specially formulated for convalescent 
patients. Additionally, we have launched two (2) new products under Appeton’s Health Supplement range, namely Appeton Essentials 
Antioxidant Caplet and Appeton Multivitamin Optigrow Plus. Under our Appeton Child Health supplement range, we have also introduced 
Appeton AppeKidz, a growing up milk for children of one (1) year and above. 

BRAND AND MARKETING EXCELLENCE

In the last financial year ended 30 June 2013, we successfully launched five (5) marketing initiatives. 

Due to the success of the previous financial year’s marketing initiatives, the Group has made the strategic decision to extend the 
initiatives for another year. Some of these initiatives such as the “Paediatric in Practice” forum has now been further enhanced to include 
a specialist workshop targeted to paediatricians.

Another highlight for last financial year’s brand and marketing initiatives was the launch of the industry’s first “Atlas of Paediatric 
Diseases: Dermatitis and Psoriasis” by the Ethical Division.

Currently, Malaysia’s generic medicine consumption is only at 40% of our total drug expenditure, with a strong reliance on innovator 
products. This reliance is often stated as the key contributor to Malaysia’s rise in healthcare expenditure and sectorial deficit. 

To counter this, the Ministry of Health Malaysia has embarked on a Generic Medicine Awareness Program (GMAP). This awareness 
programme is part of the Ministry of Health Malaysia’s initiatives to raise awareness on the usage of generic medicine in Malaysia. As 
one of the leading pharmaceutical manufacturers in Malaysia, we have wholeheartedly accepted our responsibility in supporting and 
promoting the adoption of generic medicines in Malaysia, in line with the Ministry of Health’s aspiration.

In other healthcare initiatives, the Group has also supported the Annual Scientific Meeting and Workshop on Essentials of Housemanship 
2013, KPJ Healthcare Conference and Exhibition 2013, Pharmacy Health Transformation 2013 and the 38th Annual Dermatology 
Conference 2013. 

chairman’s statement



15Annual report 2014 • Kotra Industries Berhad

chairman’s statement

GLOBAL PHARMACEUTICAL EXCELLENCE

We continue to grow our brand and marketing initiatives by conducting Paediatric in Practice (PIP) as well as Infectious Disease Forum 
(ID) initiatives in various countries. These forums have been successfully organised in Myanmar, Cambodia, Vietnam and Malaysia. In 
addition, we have also invited delegates from Vietnam, Cambodia, Nigeria and Myanmar for the PIP and ID held in Malaysia. 

Additionally, we have continued our participation in international talks and conferences, notably in the Convention on Pharmaceutical 
Ingredients (CPhI) in Frankfurt, Germany.

INDUSTRY OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

IMS projected a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) for the global pharmaceutical market of 3-6% in the forecast period from years 
2013 to 2017. Emerging market, nonetheless, is projected to see a stronger growth with the Southeast Asia region showing immense 
growth opportunities in the pharmaceutical industries. The Group has been establishing its foothold in this region over the past years 
and now with its new manufacturing capacities and capabilities, we are poised for greater growth in our international presence. 

Meanwhile in the local scene, the Malaysian government has allocated a budget of RM22.1 billion specifically for the healthcare sector. 
This will create a stable demand for medical products in general. Besides that, Malaysia is forecasted to have a double digit growth 
rate for the pharmaceutical industry. For which, we are continuously expanding our local sales team to capitalise on this opportunity.

OUR CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY PLEDGE

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is an important affair for the Group as it is in line with our vision of “Humanising Health - Everyone 
deserves a healthier tomorrow”. Additionally, we are conducting our business with transparency and accountability; abiding to the key 
practices of good corporate governance.

As a Group, we are continuously assessing and developing our core policies and day to day operations to ensure that we carry out our 
CSR obligations. This enables us to meet and exceed the expectations of our stakeholders and sustain their trust. 

Education

In our continuous support towards the knowledge based economy, the Group has maintained a close relationship with several 
universities. Further to this, the Group has been constantly sponsoring numerous universities graduate reward programmes. This is part 
of our involvement to boost academic excellence for the betterment of our education system. 

The development of our human capital remains as one (1) of the Group’s priority. As demonstrated in the previous years, we are certain 
that with our continuous investment in our people and communities, the long-term sustainability and growth of our human capital is well 
guaranteed. Substantial trainings are continuously being conducted to enhance the knowledge of our employees and also in creating a 
sense of belonging at the workplace. One of the newly introduced human capital development programmes is the “Torch programme”, 
which aims to develop employee’s confidence, presentation skills and strategic thinking. 

Healthcare

We actively sponsors various organisations and events such as the old-folks event held in Melaka by Buddishma Chee Sze Lin Organisation. 
In addition, we have also provided our support to numerous Melaka schools for Children’s Day celebration by sponsoring our childcare 
health supplements.

Humanitarian Assistance

Kotra Pharma (M) Sdn. Bhd., one (1) of our wholly owned subsidiary, is known for the commitment in humanitarian efforts especially in 
assisting organisations that requires aids during times of crisis. These initiatives are consistent with our vision of “Humanising Health - 
Everyone deserves a healthier tomorrow”. During time of grief, we have assisted Mercy Malaysia in improving the lives of the affected 
marginalised communities.
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WORDS OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank all our stakeholders, particularly our shareholders, customers and partners 
for their support through these years. Not forgetting, I would also like to commend the management team and employees who have 
delivered positive results with their endless invaluable support and commitment.

A special note of gratitude also goes to my predecessor, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman who has retired as Chairman. 
His leadership and guidance for the past 14 years has enabled us to grow steadily, and my sincere appreciation to him for the effortless 
handover of leadership. 

With our resilient strategic positioning, astute financial focus, robust revenue and profits provide us confidence that we can continue 
to achieve success in the following chapters of our journey. Together, we will steer the coming years with unending exuberance and 
commitment to even greater success.

Azhar bin Hussain
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

chairman’s statement
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Kotra Industries Berhad is committed in ensuring a high standard of corporate governance is 
practised as the Board is mindful of the importance of accountabilities to the shareholders and all stakeholders in building a sustainable 
business.

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. This statement 
provides an insight into the application of the principles and recommendations to the extent practical as set out in the Malaysian Code 
on Corporate Governance 2012 (“the Code”). 

Principle 1: Establish Clear Roles and Responsibilities

Clear Functions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall management of Kotra Industries Berhad (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the 
Group”). In order to ensure the effective discharge of its function and responsibilities, it has delegated certain of its responsibilities to 
Board Committees. There are three (3) principle Committees established as below:
•	 Audit Committee (“AC”)
•	 Nomination Committee (“NC”)
•	 Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The Board Committees are entrusted with specific responsibilities to oversee the Group’s affairs, with authority to act on behalf of the 
Board in accordance with their respective terms of reference. Although specific powers are delegated to the Board Committees, the 
Board continues to keep itself abreast of the actions and decisions taken by each Board Committee, including key issues via reports 
by the Chairman of each of the Board Committees, as well as the tabling of minutes of all Board Committee meetings, to the Board at 
Board meetings. 

The composition, terms of reference and detailed activities of the Board Committees are stated in their respective section in this Annual 
Report. 

The Board also monitors the performance of the Managing Director and the management. The roles of Managing Director and the 
management are clearly defined by the Board. The Board delegated to the Managing Director on overseeing the day-to-day operations 
of the Group, organisational effectiveness and implementation of Board policies, strategies and decisions. This includes planning, 
organising, directing and controlling functions towards achieving Group’s goals and target. The formal structure of delegation is further 
cascaded by the Managing Director to the management team within the Group. The Managing Director and the management remain 
accountable to the Board for the authority that is delegated.

Key matters reserved for the Board’s approval include the annual business plan and budget, acquisition or disposal of significant assets, 
new issue of securities, or business restructuring.

Clear Roles and Responsibilities

The Board has wide responsibilities which are discharged in the best interests of the Group in pursuance of its integrated regulatory and 
commercial objectives. Amongst the key responsibilities of the Board are as follows:
•	 reviewing and adopting a strategic plan for the Group;
•	 overseeing the conduct of the Group’s business to evaluate whether the business is being properly managed and sustained;
•	 identifying principal risks and ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks;
•	 succession planning, including appointing, training, fixing the remuneration of and where appropriate, replacing senior management 

of the Group;
•	 developing and implementing an investor relations programme or shareholder communications policy for the Company; and 
•	 reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal control systems and management information systems, including 

systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Code of Ethics

The Board has in place its Code of Ethics which commit to the ethical values and corporate culture. The Code of Ethics is to ensure 
the Company’s business and operations are in compliance with standard principles set by the Code throughout the financial year. A 
summary of the Code of Ethics is available for reference on the Group’s website at www.kotrapharma.com.

Whistle Blowing Policy 

The Board had introduced the Whistle Blowing Policy to encourage employees to report any misconduct or malpractice within the 
Group. The policy provides employees with accessible avenue to report on suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices without 
fear of being victimised or discriminated against. It is a formal channel of communication that is expected to benefit the Group in the 
long run. 

Strategies Promoting Sustainability

The Board oversees the Group’s strategies on promoting sustainability in environmental, social and governance (ESG) aspects of 
business. Balancing ESG aspects with the interests of various stakeholders is essential to enhance investor perception and public trust. 

The Group is associated with various academic, social and welfare programmes dedicated to increase health and wellness standards 
by making available quality health supplements and medication. In order to encourage continuous development of pharmaceutical 
knowledge, the Group also actively supports local students through a series of academic awards. 

Access to Information and Advice

In order to effectively discharge its duties, the Board has unrestricted access to all information pertaining to the Company or the Group’s 
business performance. The Directors may seek advice from management on issues under their respective purview. The Directors may 
also interact directly with, or request further explanation, information or updates on any aspect of the Company’s operations or business 
concerns from Management.

The Board may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense on specific issues to enable it to discharge its duties 
in relation to matters being deliberated. 

Qualified and Competent Company Secretaries

The Board has direct access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries who are experienced, competent and knowledgeable 
on the laws and regulations, as well as directives issued by the regulatory authorities. The Company Secretaries are responsible to 
the Board for ensuring that all governance matters and Board procedures are followed and that applicable laws and regulations are 
complied with. These include obligations on Directors relating to disclosure of interests and disclosure of any conflicts of interest in 
transactions with the Group. The Company Secretaries are also charged with highlighting all compliance and governance issues which 
they feel ought to be brought to the Board’s attention.

The Company Secretaries are closely involved in preparing the schedule of Board meetings and agendas for these meetings in 
conjunction with the Chairperson and Key Executives. The Company Secretaries will ensure that information is dispatched timely to all 
Directors to enable them to prepare adequately for these meetings. The Company Secretaries take the minutes of these meetings and 
distributes as soon as possible thereafter for Directors to implement the decisions.

Board Charter

The Board has adopted a Charter, which set out the Board’s roles and responsibilities, principles, as well as the principal policies of the 
Company. The Board Charter has been formalised and will be reviewed and updated periodically in accordance with the needs of the 
Company and any new regulations to ensure that it remains current and relevant. The Board Charter is available for reference on the 
Group’s website at www.kotrapharma.com.
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Principle 2: Strengthen Composition

The Board currently comprises two (2) Independent Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman), one (1) Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director, three (3) Executive Directors and one (1) Alternate Director. The composition of the Board comprises a blend of 
competency and business experience which is essential to achieve a balanced Board to deliver clear leadership and supply constructive 
decision-making. Board composition of the Company complies with the Main Market Listing Requirements whereby one-third (1/3) of its 
Board members are independent. A brief profile of each Director is presented on pages 5 to 8 of this Annual Report.

In ensuring that the composition of the Board is strengthened, the Board has entrusted the Nomination and Remuneration Committees 
to implement policies and procedures with respect to selection and nomination of Board and Board committees, review of Board’s 
succession plans and management of talent retention via fair remuneration policy in line with the market practice.

Nomination Committee

The NC comprises exclusively three (3) Non-Executive Directors of whom majority are independent. 

•	 Azhar bin Hussain 
	 Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 P’ng Beng Hoe
	 Member / Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 Piong Teck Min
	 Member / Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman and Encik Omar bin Md. Khir who were the Chairman and member respectively of 
NC had retired on 27 November 2013.

The salient terms of reference of the NC are as follows: 

i. 	 Composition 

The Board of Directors shall elect the NC members from amongst themselves, composed exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, a 
majority of whom are independent. The term of office of the NC shall be for a period of three (3) years and may be re-nominated and 
appointed by the Board of Directors from time to time. 

ii. 	 Functions of the NC 

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the NC shall: 

a. 	 Determine the core competencies and skills required of Board members to best serve the business and operations of the Group 
as a whole and the optimum size of the Board to reflect the desired skills and competencies; 

b. 	Review the size of Non-Executive participation, Board balance and determine if additional Board members are required and also 
to ensure that at least one-third (1/3) of the Board is independent; 

c. 	 Undertake an annual review of the required mix of skills and experience and other qualities of Directors, including core 
competencies which Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board and to disclose this forthwith in every annual report; and

d. 	 Assist the Board to introduce criteria and to formulate and implement a procedure to be carried out by the NC annually for 
assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees, and for assessing the contributions of each individual 
Director, and assess the independence of its Independent Directors.



18 Kotra Industries Berhad • Annual report 2014

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Activities of the NC: 

The NC annually reviews the required mix of skills and experience and other qualities, including core competencies which the Directors 
should bring to the Board. The NC undertakes an annual assessment of the Directors’ independence and consider if they can continue 
to bring independent and objective judgment to board deliberations. The Board has implemented a process carried by the NC annually 
for continuous assessment and feedback to the Board the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each individual 
Director. During the financial year, the NC recommended to the Board of Directors the nominees to fill the seats on Board Committees 
in view of the retirement of two (2) Directors.

Appointment to the Board and Re-election

In line with the NC’s terms of reference, all appointments to the Board are recommended by the NC. In the selection process, the Board 
ensures that shareholders and investors interests in the Group are not compromised. The processes of identifying and nominating new 
Directors are vested in the NC. The NC shall nominate the candidate, taking into account the Group’s businesses and matches the 
Group’s needs with the capabilities and contribution expected for a particular appointment. 

As part of the familiarisation process, the Board ensures that newly appointed Directors must undergo an induction programme 
specially designed to familiarise the Directors with the businesses within the Group. The familiarisation process includes a briefing by 
the Managing Director, visit to offices and manufacturing plants and discussion with the senior members of the Management team to 
gain in-depth knowledge of latest progress and appreciation of the key drivers behind the Group’s core businesses. 

Newly appointed Directors must also attend and complete the Mandatory Accreditation Programme (MAP) conducted by Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”). 

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, at least one-third (1/3) of the Directors are required to retire by rotation each 
financial year and they can offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). All Directors shall submit themselves 
for re-election by shareholders at regular intervals at least once in every three (3) years, together with all new Directors appointed during 
the financial year, subject to re-election at the AGM. Whereas, Section 129 (6) of the Companies Act 1965 requires that all Directors over 
seventy (70) years of age go forward for re-appointment each year. 

Upon the recommendation of the NC and the Board of the Company, the Directors listed below are due to go forward for re-election at 
the AGM in 2014 and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election: 
•	 Piong Teck Min retires pursuant to Article 97(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association
•	 Datuk Piong Teck Yen retires pursuant to Article 97(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association

Board Assessment

The Board has adopted an on-going evaluation process to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The assessment is done 
through the NC and Chairman of the NC oversees the overall evaluation process. 

The NC reports annually the assessment to the Board. The assessment together with the report on the Board balance will be discussed 
at the full Board. This exercise is carried out after the end of each financial year or such other time as may be deemed appropriate. In 
the assessment, the Board was satisfied that the Board and its Committees have discharged their duties and responsibilities effectively.

Gender Diversity

The Board is supportive of gender diversity in the boardroom as recommended by the Code. Currently, there is one (1) female Director 
on the Board of the Company. The Company will appoint an independent woman director when the need arises.
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Remuneration Committee 

The remuneration of Directors is determined at levels which enable the Group to attract and retain Directors with the relevant experience 
and expertise to manage the Group successfully. 

The RC assists the Board in reviewing, analysing and recommending appropriate yet competitive remuneration packages and other 
benefits applicable to the Directors, while taking into account the Company’s and individual Director’s performances as well as market 
practises. The RC reviews on the Company’s remuneration policy, making proposal to change where required, to ensure the policy is 
fair and in line with current market best practices.

The RC comprises (3) Non-Executive Directors of whom two (2) are Independent and one (1) Executive.

•	 Azhar bin Hussain 
	 Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 P’ng Beng Hoe
	 Member / Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 Piong Teck Min
	 Member / Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 Piong Teck Onn
	 Member / Managing Director

Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman and Encik Omar bin Md. Khir who were the Chairman and member of the RC 
respectively had retired on 27 November 2013.

The salient terms of reference of the RC are as follows: 

i. 	 Composition 

The Board of Directors shall elect the RC members from amongst themselves, composed wholly or mainly of Non-Executive 
Directors. The term of office of the RC shall be for a period of three (3) years and may be re-nominated and appointed by the Board 
of Directors from time to time.

ii. 	 Functions of the RC

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the RC shall: 

a. 	 Review, recommend and advise on all forms of Directors’ remuneration, for example: 
•	 Basic Salary 
•	 Profit-Sharing Schemes 
•	 Share Options 
•	 Any other benefits; 

b. 	 Structure the component parts of the Executive Directors’ remuneration so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance; whereas, in the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration should reflect the experience and level 
of responsibilities undertaken by the particular Non-Executive Director concerned; 

c. 	 Conduct continued assessment of individual Executive Directors to ensure that remuneration is directly related to performance 
over time. In this regard, the review of Non-Executive Directors’ fees may take place at a different time of the year from the review 
of Executive Directors’ salaries; 

d. 	 Provide an objective and independent assessment of the benefits granted to Executive Directors; and 

e. 	 Consider what other details of Executive Directors’ remuneration to be reported in addition to the existing legal requirements, 
and how these details should be presented in the Annual Report.
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Activities of the RC:
 
During the financial year, the RC reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the remuneration package for the Board of Directors 
of the Company. It includes review on the annual increment and bonus package for Executive Directors, as well as the Director’s fee for 
all Independent and Non-Executive Directors. The Committee members abstained from participating in the discussion of their individual 
remuneration.

Directors’ Remuneration 

Diligent steps were taken to ensure each Director is fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the Group taking into consideration 
of the financial position of the Group. Details of remuneration of the Directors paid by the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 
2014 are as follows:

			   Other short term 
			   employee benefits
			  including estimated
			   monetary value of 	
	 Fees 	E moluments	 benefits in kind	T otal
	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)

Executive Directors	 -	 1,787	 104	 1,891
Non-Executive Directors	 162	 -	 -	 162

Total	 162	 1,787	 104 	 2,053

The number of Directors of the Group whose remuneration fall within the respective bands are as follows:

	 The Group	T he Company
Range or Remuneration	 2014	 2013	 2014	 2013

Non-Executive Directors
Below RM50,000	 5	 4	 5	 4
RM50,001 – RM100,000	 -	 1	 -	 1

Executive Directors
RM350,001 – RM400,000	 -	 1	 -	 -
RM400,001 – RM450,000	 1	 -	 -	 -
RM450,001 – RM500,000	 -	 -	 -	 -
RM500,001 – RM550,000	 1	 1	 -	 -
RM700,001 – RM750,000	 -	 -	 -	 -
RM850,001 – RM900,000	 -	 -	 -	 -
RM900,001 – RM 950,000	 -	 1	 -	 -
RM950,001 – RM 1,000,000	 1	 -	 -	 -

Details of the remuneration of each Director are not disclosed in the Annual Report as the Board is of the opinion that this infringes 
on the privacy of the individual Director. Nevertheless, the Annual Report discloses the annual remuneration of Directors in bands of 
RM50,000 and the number of Executive/Non-Executive Directors receiving annual remuneration in each particular band as well as the 
total remuneration received by the Executive and Non-Executive Directors in separate categories.
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Principle 3: Reinforce Independence

Annual Assessment of Independence

The NC reviews the independence of Directors annually according to the criteria on independence set out in the Main Market Listing 
Requirements and Practice Notes of Bursa Malaysia on independency. The Company’s Independent Non-Executive Directors also 
submit an annual declaration regarding their independency. 

Based on the above assessment, the Board is satisfied with the level of independence demonstrated by all the Non-Executive Directors, 
and their ability to act in the best interests of the Company, as well as ability to resolve problems based on clarity and understanding of 
the subject matter during deliberations at Board meetings.

Tenure of Independent Director

The Board is mindful of the recommendation of the Code on limiting the tenure of Independent Directors to nine (9) years of service. If 
the situation arises, Independent Directors who have served the Company for more than nine (9) years will be re-designated as Non-
Independent Directors subject to shareholders’ approval.

Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman and Encik Omar bin Md. Khir who were appointed as Directors of the Company on 5 
June 2000 had served on the Board for more than nine (9) years. In view of the implementation of the 9-year policy, they had retained 
office until the conclusion of the 14th AGM held on 27 November 2013.

Separation of Positions of the Chairman and Managing Director

The position of Chairman and Managing Director are held by two (2) different individuals. 

The Chairman leads the Board with a keen focus on governance and compliance. In turn, the Board monitors the functions of the 
Management as well as the Board Committees in accordance with their respective terms of reference to ensure its own effectiveness. 

The Managing Director assists the Chairman in the effectiveness of implementation of Board policies, making operational decisions and 
monitoring day-to-day running of the business.

The distinct and separate roles of the Chairman and Managing Director, with a clear division of responsibilities, ensure a balance of 
power and authority, such that none of the individual has exclusive powers of decision making.
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Time Commitment

The Board is satisfied with the level of time commitment given by the Directors towards fulfilling their roles and responsibilities. This is 
evidenced by the attendance record of the Directors at Board of Directors and Board Committee meetings for the financial year ended 
30 June 2014, as set out in the table below:

Number of meetings attended in the financial year ended 30 June 2014 

Director Board AC NC RC

Azhar bin Hussain 5/5 5/5 - 1/1

Piong Teck Onn 5/5 - - 2/2

Datuk Piong Teck Yen 5/5 - - -

Chin Swee Chang 5/5 - - -

Piong Teck Min 3/5 3/5 1/1 1/2

P’ng Beng Hoe 5/5 5/5 - 1/1

Omar bin Md. Khir (Retired on 27.11.2013) 3/3 - 1/1 1/1

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman (Retired on 
27.11.2013)

3/3 - 1/1 1/1

Piong Chee Kien (Alternate Director) 2/5 - - -

The meeting schedules are circulated in advance for the Directors to plan their timing. 

Training 

All the Board members are encouraged to review their own training needs from time to time to keep abreast with current developments 
of the pharmaceutical industry as well as new statutory and regulatory requirements. The Board ensures that the Directors continuously 
update their skills and knowledge and familiarity with the Company’s business in line with the vision and mission in order to remain 
competitive and to effectively discharge their duties as Directors.

During the financial year, the Directors have constantly kept themselves updated on both local and international affairs, and the 
changes in regulations affecting the Company through advisories from regulatory bodies, the management and through self-reading. 
The Directors also have continued to participate in training programmes which enable them to sustain their active participation in 
board deliberations. The Board has assessed and considered the training programmes attended by them and that the trainings were 
appropriate and sufficient.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)
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Principle 5: Uphold Integrity in Financial Reporting

Compliance with Applicable Financial Reporting Standards

The Board ensures that shareholders are provided with a balanced and meaningful evaluation of the Company’s and the Group’s 
financial performance, its position and future prospects, through the issuance of the Annual Audited Financial Statements and quarterly 
financial reports, as well as corporate announcements on significant developments affecting the Company in accordance with Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia. Appropriate accounting policies have been applied consistently in preparing the financial statements, 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgement and estimates.

According to the Companies Act 1965, the Directors are mandated to prepare financial statements, results and cash flows which 
illustrate an accurate and impartial view of the Group’s state of affairs at the end of each financial year. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors have: 
•	 adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently; 
•	 made reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates; 
•	 ensured all applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 

financial statements; and 
•	 prepared the financial statements on on-going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company 

will continue in business. 

The Board of Directors are also responsible to ensure that the Group keep proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy of the Group’s and the Company’s financial positions at any time and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965. The Directors have overall accountability for taking such steps that are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company, in order to detect and prevent fraud and other 
irregularities. 

The AC Chairman Mr. P’ng Beng Hoe, who is a Chartered Accountant and former partner of a professional accounting firm, together 
with all AC members, reviewed the Company’s financial statements in the presence of the external auditors, prior to recommending 
them for Board’s approval and issuance to stakeholders. The AC ensures that the Company’s financial statements comply with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 1965 and applicable financial reporting standards in Malaysia. The Report of the AC is outlined in 
this Annual Report. 

Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors 

The AC undertakes an annual assessment of the suitability and independence of the external auditors. In this regard, the AC assessed 
the independence of Messrs. Crowe Horwath as external auditors of the Company as well as reviewed the level of non-audit services 
to be rendered by Messrs. Crowe Horwath to the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. The AC was satisfied with 
their technical competency and audit independence. The AC then recommended their re-appointment to the Board, upon which the 
shareholders’ approval will be sought at the AGM.

Principle 6: Recognise and Manage Risks

Sound Framework to Manage Risks

The Group adopts an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework. The ERM framework essentially links the Group’s strategic 
objective to principal risks; and the principal risks to control and opportunities that are translated to actions. The Group’s ERM framework 
was formalised with the assistance of a professional firm of consultants, KPMG Business Advisory Sdn. Bhd.. Periodic testing of the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the internal control procedures and processes are conducted to ensure that the system is viable and 
robust.
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Internal Audit Function 

To ensure its system of checks and balances are operating as designed, the Group has outsourced its Internal Audit Function to a firm 
of professionals which assist both the Board and the AC by conducting independent assessments of the adequacy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system. 

To ensure independence from Management, the internal auditor has direct reporting lines to the AC.

Details of the Group’s internal control system and framework are set out in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of 
this Annual Report. 

Principle 7: Ensure Timely and High Quality Disclosure

The Board reviews and approves all quarterly and other important announcements. The Company announces its quarterly and full year 
results within the mandatory period. The financial statements and press releases information are disseminated and publicly released via 
Bursa LINK on a timely basis to ensure effective dissemination of information relating to the Group.

Leverage on Information Technology for Effective Dissemination of Information

The Group has established a corporate website at www.kotrapharma.com which includes a dedicated section on Investor Relations, to 
further enhance shareholders communication. Information such as board charter, code of ethics, annual reports, and announcements 
are made available to the shareholders and public. 

The Board is committed to maintain a constructive relationship with its shareholders. Announcements are made on a timely basis to 
Bursa Malaysia and these are made electronically to the public via Bursa Malaysia’s website at www.bursamalaysia.com as well as 
the Group’s website www.kotrapharma.com to ensure shareholders are well-informed about the Group’s performance and operations.

The website provides corporate information, financial result, annual reports, and product information. For further enquiries or requests 
for information, shareholders and investors are welcomed to contact the Company’s Corporate Affairs Department.

Principle 8: Strengthen Relationship between Company and Shareholders

Encourage Shareholder Participation at General Meetings

To facilitate a two-way discussion with the shareholders, the notice of the meeting together with a copy of the Annual Report will be sent 
to shareholders at least twenty one (21) days prior to the AGM. The Annual Report is to provide full disclosure and is in compliance with 
the relevant regulations to ensure greater transparency.

Feedback from the shareholders is held at great value to the Group. The Group undertakes the AGM as a platform to respond directly 
to the shareholders’ queries clarifying any issues or confusion that may arise. The Group’s performance and progress is presented by 
the Managing Director during the AGM. All Directors and the External Auditors are present at the AGM to attend to any issues raised by 
the shareholders and investors. The Chairman ensures that the Board is accessible to shareholders. 

Independent Non-Executive Director, Mr. P’ng Beng Hoe was appointed by the Board as well as the Company Secretaries as contact 
persons to enable shareholders to convey their views and feedback to the Board effectively. 

Poll Voting

In line with recommendations of the Code, the Chairman will inform the shareholders of their right to demand a poll vote at the 
announcement of all general meetings.
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Effective Communication and Proactive Engagement

In maintaining the commitment to effective communication with shareholders, the Group adopts the practice of comprehensive, timely 
and continuous disclosures of information to its shareholders as well as to the general investing public. The practice of disclosures 
of information is not just established to comply with the requirements of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
pertaining to continuing disclosures, it also adopts the best practices as recommended in the Code with regard to strengthening 
engagement and communication with shareholders. Where possible and applicable, the Group also provides additional disclosure of 
information on voluntary basis. The Group believes that consistently maintaining a high level of disclosure and extensive communication 
with its shareholders is vital to shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION 

Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

The details of the Recurrent Related Party Transactions (RRPT) of a revenue or trading nature conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ 
Mandate during the financial year ended 30 June 2014 are as follows:

Name of Mandated 
Related Party

Relationship with the Group Nature of Transactions RM ’000

Kwong Onn Tong Sdn Bhd 
(36327-U)

A company in which Piong Teck They, who is brother 
to Piong Teck Min, Piong Teck Onn and Datuk Piong 
Teck Yen (Directors of the Company), is a Director 
and has direct interest

Sales of goods 261

Lonnix (M) Sdn Bhd 
(269246-T)

A company, in which Piong Teck Min, who is a 
Director of the Company, is a Director and has direct 
interest

Contract manufacturing costs 
paid/payable

146

Appeton Laboratory Sdn 
Bhd (67336-V)

A company in which Datuk Piong Teck Yen and 
Piong Teck Onn, who are Directors of the Company, 
are Directors and have direct interests

Rental of premises paid/payable 6

Estate of Piong Nam Kim @ 
Piong Pak Kim

An estate in which Piong Teck Min, Piong Teck Onn 
and Datuk Piong Teck Yen who are Directors of the 
Company, have beneficial interest

Rental of premises paid/payable 13 

Thames Bioscience (M) Sdn 
Bhd (464698-X)

A company in which Piong Teck Onn and Datuk 
Piong Teck Yen who are Directors of the Company 
are Directors. Piong Teck Onn has direct interest

Royalty paid/payable 34

Piong Teck Onn A Director of the Company Rental of premises paid/payable 14

Datuk Piong Teck Yen A Director of the Company Rental of premises paid/payable 65

N’Care International Sdn 
Bhd (878365-M)

A related party by virtue of Piong Chee Keong and 
Piong Chee Kien both being sons of Piong Teck Min 
who is a Director of the Company

Rental of premises received/
receivable

57

Yong Soon Moi A Related Party by virtue of Madam Yong Soon 
Moi being a mother to Piong Teck Min, Piong Teck 
Onn, Datuk Piong Teck Yen who are Directors of the 
Company. Madam Yong Soon Moi is also deemed to 
be a major shareholder of the Company

Rental of premises paid/payable 4

Aggregate value of related party transactions 600

The Company is seeking shareholders’ approval on RRPT of a revenue or trading nature to be entered by the Company’s subsidiary 
with related parties in the ordinary course of business in the forthcoming AGM. Details of the transactions are furnished in the Circular 
to Shareholders, which is distributed together with the Annual Report.



26 Kotra Industries Berhad • Annual report 2014

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Share Buy-back 

There were no share buy-back activity during the financial year ended 30 June 2014. 

Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities

During the financial year, a total of 4,331,000 shares were exercised for the Employees’ Share Option Scheme. There were no warrants 
or convertible securities exercised during the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

Depository Receipt Programme 

The Company has not sponsored any depository receipt programme during the financial year under review. 

Sanctions and/or Penalties Imposed 

The Company is not aware of any sanctions/penalties imposed on the Company, its subsidiaries, Directors or management by the 
relevant regulatory bodies that have been made public. 

Non-audit Fees Paid to External Auditors 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2014, non-audit fees paid or payable to the external auditors and affiliated firms amounted to 
RM35,200. 

Variation in Results 

There were no significant variance between the results for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 as per the audited financial statements 
and the unaudited results previously announced. The Company did not make any release on profit estimate, forecast or projections for 
the financial year. 

Profit Guarantee 

There were no profit guarantee given by the Company in respect of the financial year. 

Material Contracts Involving Directors’ and Major Shareholders’ Interests 

Other than RRPT of a Revenue or Trading Nature as disclosed, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its 
subsidiaries involving Directors, Major Shareholders or connected persons which were still subsisting as at the end of the financial year 
under review or which were entered into since the end of the previous financial year except as disclosed in the financial statements.
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Introduction

Pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia, the Board is pleased to present the 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control (“Statement”) which outlines the nature and scope of risk management and 
internal control of the Group during the financial year ended 30 June 2014. 

Board’s Responsibility 

The Board is responsible for ensuring the existence of an effective internal control system and risk management within the Group. It 
therefore, continuously reviews and evaluates the effectiveness internal control systems and risk management processes. However, the 
Board recognises that such systems and processes are designed to manage risks to acceptable levels rather than eliminate them. The 
system can therefore only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance, against material misstatement or loss. 

Whilst the Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s internal control system, it has delegated the implementation of the system 
to the Management who regularly report on risks identified and steps taken to mitigate and or minimise the identified risks. The Board, 
through its Audit Committee, regularly reviews the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls and risk management, 
including mitigating measures taken by Management, to address the areas of key risks as identified. The process has been in place 
for the financial year under review and up to the date of approval of this Statement for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company. 

Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework which is in line with the Recommendation 6.1 of the Malaysian 
Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG 2012”). The ERM framework essentially links the Group’s strategic objective to principal risks; 
and the principal risks to controls and opportunities that are translated to actions. 

The Group’s Enterprise Risk Management framework was formalised with the assistance of a professional firm of consultants involving 
the development of the Group’s risk profile and appropriate control systems to manage and control the risks identified. In June 2014, 
an ERM Update had been carried out by the professional firm of consultants involving the Directors, senior management, functional line 
management and staff. The risk profile of the Group has been updated with key risks indicators to be monitored on periodic basis and 
action plans were formulated focusing on the principal risks. 

The Board believes that maintaining a sound system of risk management is founded on a clear understanding and appreciation of the 
following key elements of the Group’s risk management framework:

•	 A risk management structure which outlines the lines of reporting and establishes the responsibilities at different levels, i.e. the 
Board, Audit Committee and Management; and

•	 On-going identification of principal risks (present and potential) faced by the Group and formalisation of Management’s action plans 
to mitigate manage these risks considering the established risk appetite and parameters (qualitative and quantitative) for the Group 
and subsidiaries.

Internal Audit Function

As part of its broader effort to ensure its system of checks and balances are operating as designed, the Group has outsourced its 
Internal Audit Function to a firm of professionals which assist both the Board and the Audit Committee by conducting independent 
assessments of the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system. To ensure 
independence from Management, the internal auditor has direct reporting lines to the Audit Committee.

Regular review of the key business areas is conducted pursuant to an internal audit plan. The Audit Plan is approved by the Audit 
Committee before implementation. Internal audit reports and the status of the audit plan are presented to the Audit Committee. 
Significant findings and recommendations for improvements are highlighted to the Audit Committee, with periodic follow up and reviews 
of action plans.

Statement on 
risk management and internal control
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risk management and internal control (CONT’D)

During the financial year under review, internal audit was carried out on managing of sales return and sales personnel incentive schemes 
and the effectiveness of inventory management system. The internal audit function also follows up and reports to the Audit Committee 
the status of implementation by Management on the recommendations highlighted in the previous internal audit reports. The findings 
from the audit were reported in February 2014. The costs incurred for the internal audit function for the financial year ended 30 June 
2014 amounted to approximately RM54,000.

Additionally, ongoing reviews and deliberation of financial and operational reports during Board and Audit Committee meetings are 
carried out to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the Groups’ internal control system in safeguarding the shareholders’ investment 
and the Group’s assets.

Other Risk and Control Processes:

•	 A defined organisational structure within the Group, with clear lines of responsibility, authority and accountability, to ensure that 
Management acts in the best interest of shareholders;

•	 Detailed budgeting process where key business divisions prepare budgets for the coming year;
•	 Regular monitoring of results against budget with major variances being followed up and Management action taken, where necessary;
•	 Operating procedures that set out the policies, procedures and practices adopted in the Group are properly documented and 

communicated to staff member so as to ensure clear accountabilities. The effectiveness of internal control procedures are subject 
to continuous assessments, reviews and improvements;

•	 Financial reports, progress reports, key variances and analysis of financial data of the Group’s businesses are provided regularly to 
the Senior Management and the Board;

•	 Regular Management meetings are conducted to review and discuss financial and operational reports and matters;
•	 Clear delegation of responsibilities and appropriate level of empowerment to various committees of the Board, Executive Directors 

and members of Senior Management;
•	 Established management information systems with documented processes, including change request to computer programmes 

and access to data files; and 
•	 Sufficient insurance and physical safeguards over major assets are in place to ensure that the assets of the Group are adequately 

covered against any mishap that may result in material losses to the Group.
 
Adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer have assured the Board that the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems is operating adequately and effectively, in all material aspects, during the financial year under review and up to the date of this 
Statement. 

The external auditors have reviewed this Statement pursuant to paragraph 15.23 of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market 
Listing Requirements for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2014 and reported to the Board that 
nothing has come to their attention that caused them to believe that the statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the 
processes adopted by the Board. 

Taking into consideration the assurance from the management team and external auditors, the Board is of the view that the systems of 
risk management and internal control is adequate to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets, and have not resulted 
in any material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would require disclosure in the Group’s Annual Report.
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The Audit Committee of Kotra Industries Berhad is pleased to present the following Audit Committee report and its activities during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014.

1. 	 Members of the Audit Committee

All the members of the Audit Committee fulfill the requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia and are financially 
literate. The Chairman, Mr. P’ng Beng Hoe is a former Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers and a Chartered Accountant in Malaysia 
and Australia. 

•	 P’ng Beng Hoe 
	 Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 Azhar bin Hussain 
	 Member / Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 Piong Teck Min
	 Member / Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

2. 	A ttendance of the Audit Committee Meetings

The Audit Committee held five (5) meetings during the financial year ended 30 June 2014. Invitations were extended to other Board 
members, the Chief Financial Officer, Senior Finance Manager as well as the internal and external auditors. The attendance record 
of each member was as follows:

Members Aug
2013

Oct 
2013

Nov 
2013

Feb
2014

May
2014 Total

P’ng Beng Hoe √ √ √ √ √ 5/5

Azhar bin Hussain √ √ √ √ √ 5/5

Piong Teck Min √ √ √ X X 3/5

3. 	T erms of Reference of the Audit Committee

A. 	Composition of Audit Committee

The Audit Committee shall comprise no fewer than three (3) members all of whom are Non-Executive Directors and majority of 
whom shall be Independent Directors. All members of the Audit Committee should be financially literate.

The Board adopts the definition of “Independent Director” as defined under the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Malaysia.

At least one (1) member of the Audit Committee must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountant or if he is not a 
member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountant, he must have at least three (3) years working experience and; 
i. 	 he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or
ii. 	 he must be a member of one of the associations of accountants as specified in Part II of the First Schedule of the Accountants 

Act 1967; or

fulfills such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia.

No alternate Director of the Board shall be appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

Subject to endorsement by the Board, the Audit Committee shall elect a Chairman amongst themselves who is an Independent 
Director.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
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Retirement and Resignation

If a member of the Audit Committee resigns, demise, or for any reason ceases to be a member resulting in non-compliance to the 
composition criteria as stated in first paragraph above, the Board shall within three (3) months of the event appoint such number 
of new members as may be required to fill the vacancy. 

Chairman 

The members of the Audit Committee shall elect a Chairman from amongst their number who shall be an Independent Director.

In the absence of the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the other members of the Audit Committee shall amongst themselves 
elect a Chairman who must be an Independent Director to chair the meeting.

B. 	External Audit

The following are the tasks and functions of the Audit Committee concerning external audit:

1. 	 Consider the appointment of external auditors, the audit fees and any question of resignation or dismissal;
2. 	 Review the adequacy of external audit arrangements, with particular emphasis on the scope and quality of the audit;
3. 	 Review the assistance given by the Company and/or the Group’s officers to the external auditors;
4. 	 Review the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as well as the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group with management (and the external auditors in respect of the annual financial statements), including 
the following:
•	 Any change in accounting policies and practices
•	 Significant adjustments arising from the audit
•	 The going concern assumption
•	 Compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;

5. 	 Review the external auditors’ audit report;
6. 	 Review any management letter sent by the Group’s or any of its subsidiaries’ external auditors and management’s response 

to such letter;
7. 	 Review any letter of resignation from the external auditors of the Group or any of its subsidiaries; and
8. 	 Discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the auditor may wish to discuss 

in the absence of management where necessary.

C. 	Internal Audit

The following are the roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee concerning internal audit:

1. 	 Review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources, competency of the internal audit function and that it has the 	
authority to carry out the work;

2. 	 Review the internal audit programme and results of the internal audit process and where necessary ensure that appropriate 
actions are taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;

3. 	 Review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;
4. 	 Approve any appointment or termination of senior staff members of the internal audit function; and
5. 	 Take cognisance of resignations of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff member an opportunity to 

submit his reasons for resigning.

D. 	Related Party Transactions

The Audit Committee shall review all related party transactions and potential conflict of interests’ situations that may arise within 
the Group.
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E. 	Risk Management and Internal Control

The following are the responsibilities of the Audit Committee concerning risk management and internal control:

1. 	 Review all areas of significant business and financial risk and the arrangements in place to contain those risks to acceptable 
levels;

2. 	 Review the effectiveness of the system of internal control and management information system within the Group;
3. 	 Consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response; and
4. 	 Consider other topics as defined by the Board.

F. 	R ights and Powers of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee shall:

1. 	 Have explicit authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference;
2. 	 Have the resources which it needs to perform its duties;
3. 	 Have full access to any information which it requires in the course of performing its duties;
4. 	 Have unrestricted access to the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer;
5. 	 Have direct communication channels with the external auditors and internal auditors;
6. 	 Be able to obtain independent professional or other advice in the performance of its duties at the cost of the Group;
7. 	 Be able to invite outsiders with relevant experience to attend its meetings, if necessary; and
8. 	 Be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance of other 

Directors and employees of the Company and/or the Group, whenever deemed necessary.

G. 	Cooperation from Management

The Group and every subsidiary’s management shall provide the fullest co-operation in providing information and resources to 
the Audit Committee, and in implementing or carrying out all requests made by the Audit Committee.

H. 	Meetings

The Audit Committee shall meet regularly, with due notice of issues to be discussed, and shall record its conclusions in discharging 
its duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Chairman may call for additional meetings at any time at the Chairman’s discretion.

Upon the request of the external auditor, the Chairman of the Audit Committee shall convene a meeting of the Audit Committee 
to consider any matter the external auditor believes should be brought to the attention of the directors or shareholders.

Notice of Audit Committee meetings shall be given to all the Audit Committee members unless the Audit Committee waives such 
requirement.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee shall engage on a continuous basis with senior management, such as the Chairman, the 
Chief Executive Officer, the Finance Director, the head of internal audit and the external auditors in order to be kept informed of 
matters affecting the Company. 

The Finance Director, the head of internal audit and a representative of the external auditors should normally attend meetings. 
Other Board members and employees may attend meetings upon the invitation of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
shall be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, without executive Board members or 
employees present whenever deemed necessary and at least twice a year with the external auditors.

Questions arising at any meeting of the Audit Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes of the members present, and in 
the case of equality of votes, the Chairman of the Audit Committee shall have a second or casting vote.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)
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Quorum

The quorum for the Audit Committee meeting shall be the majority of members present whom must be Independent Directors.

Secretary

The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Audit Committee and will be responsible for co-ordination of administrative 
details including calling of meetings and keeping of minutes.

I. 	R eview of the Audit Committee

The Board must review the terms of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members at least once 
every three (3) years to determine whether the Audit Committee and the members have carried out their duties with the terms 
of reference.

4. 	A ctivities of the Audit Committee

During the financial year, the Audit Committee has discharged its duties as set out in its terms of reference. The main activities 
performed by the Audit Committee during the financial year are as follows:

Financial Reporting

•	 Reviewed the quarterly and year-to-date unaudited financial results of the Company and the Group including announcements, 
before recommending them for approval by the Board of Directors; and

•	 Reviewed the annual audited financial statements of the Company and the Group with the external auditors prior to submission 
to the Board of Directors for approval.

The review was to ensure that the financial reporting and disclosures are in compliance with: 
-	 Requirements of the Companies Act, 1965;
-	 Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia;
-	 Applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia; and
-	 Other relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

In the review of the annual audited financial statements, the Audit Committee discussed with management and the external 
auditors the accounting principles and standards that were applied and their judgment of the items that may affect the financial 
statements.

Internal Audit

•	 Reviewed and approved the internal audit programme, scope of work, system of internal control and the internal auditors’ 
remuneration packages based on the risk management profile of the Group;

•	 Reviewed all findings of the internal audit processes and investigation reports to ensure corrective actions taken by the 
Management on the recommendations made by the internal auditor are being managed in a timely manner; and

•	 Reviewed internal audit policy and control system for the financial year which includes review of operational compliance with 
established control procedures, management efficiency, risk assessments and reliability of financial record.

External Audit

•	 Reviewed with the external auditors: 
-	 Their audit plan and scope of work for the year
-	 The results of the annual audit, their audit report and management letter together with management’s response to the findings 

of the external auditors;
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•	 Assessed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors during the year. The committee also received reports from the 
external auditors on their own policies regarding independence and the measures taken to control the quality of their work; and

•	 Met with the external auditors twice during the year in the absence of management. 

Related Party Transactions

•	 Reviewed the related party transactions entered into by the Group on quarterly basis as well as the disclosure of such transactions 
and conflict of interest situation in the Annual Report of the Group; and

•	 Reviewed the Circular to Shareholders relating to shareholders’ mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue 
or Trading Nature prior to recommending it for Board’s approval.

Annual Reporting

•	 Reviewed and recommended the Statement on Corporate Governance and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control 
in line with the principles set out in the Code, Audit Committee Report and Circular to Shareholders on Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions to the Board for approval for disclosures in the Annual Report.

Risk Management

•	 The Audit Committee reviewed the overall risk profile of the Group and provided guidance on the action plans to address the 
identified risks and further reported to the Board thereon.

5. 	I nternal Audit Function

The Group has outsourced the internal audit function to external independent internal auditor, KPMG Business Advisory Sdn Bhd 
to carry out the Group’s internal audit functions effectively and professionally in accomplishing its goal by bringing a systematic 
and independent approach to improve the effectiveness of control and governance process within the Group. This internal auditor’s 
function is to provide sound assurance that such systems and processes continue to operate effectively and efficiently.

The external independent internal auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee on the outcomes of the audit conducted and make 
recommendations as appropriate by adopting the standards and principles outlined in the practices of Corporate Governance.

The internal audit function is elaborated further in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control in pages 27 to 28 of this 
Annual Report.

6. 	S tatement on Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

The Audit Committee and the Management had reviewed the allocation of options granted to employees during the reporting 
financial year with relation to ESOS scheme and Section 8.17 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia.
	
The Audit Committee hereby confirms that during the financial year under review, the allocation of options offered by the Company 
to eligible employees of the Group complies with the Bye-Laws of the Company’s ESOS.

In the reporting financial year, there was a grant of employee share options to one (1) of the Non-Executive Directors as follows:

Name of Director Position Number of options granted

Piong Teck Min Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 1,980,000

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)
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The directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2014.			 
			 
Principal activities	

The Company is principally involved in investment holding and the provision of management services. The principal activities of its 
subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities 
during the financial year.

Results

	G roup 	C ompany 
	R M’000 	R M’000 

Profit/(Loss) after taxation for the financial year	 5,660 	 (213)

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial 
statements. 		
	
In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

Dividends

No dividend was paid since the end of previous financial year and the directors do not recommend any final dividend in respect of the 
current financial year.

Directors

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Piong Teck Onn
Piong Teck Min
Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen, DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP
Chin Swee Chang
P’ng Beng Hoe, BKT, PJK, JP
Azhar bin Hussain
Piong Chee Kien (Alternate to Piong Teck Min)
Omar bin Md. Khir (Retired on 27.11.2013)
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Omar bin Abdul Rahman, JSM, JMN, DMSM, PSM (Retired on 27.11.2013)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Directors’ interests

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors holding office at the end of the financial year in shares 
and options under the Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) in the Company and its related corporations during the financial year 
were as follows:-

	N umber of ordinary shares of RM1 each
	 1.7.2013 	A cquired 	S old 	 30.6.2014

Holding company

Direct interest
Piong Teck Min 	 10,000 	 - 	 - 	 10,000
Piong Teck Onn 	 51,000 	 - 	 - 	 51,000
Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen,
   DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP 	 10,000 	 - 	 - 	 10,000

	N umber of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
	 1.7.2013 	A cquired 	S old 	 30.6.2014

The Company

Direct interest
Chin Swee Chang 	 1,800,000 	 - 	 - 	 1,800,000
Piong Teck Min 	 1,276,220 	 1,000,000 	 - 	 2,276,220
Piong Teck Onn 	 1,800,000 	 - 	 - 	 1,800,000
Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen,
   DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP 	 2,200 	 1,800,000 	 - 	 1,802,200

Indirect interest
Piong Teck Min 	 64,998,212 	 - 	 - 	 64,998,212
Piong Teck Onn 	 64,624,362 	 - 	 - 	 64,624,362
Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen,
   DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP 	 64,624,362 	 - 	 - 	 64,624,362

	N umber of options over ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
	 1.7.2013 	G ranted 	E xercised 	 30.6.2014

The Company

Chin Swee Chang 	 - 	 1,980,000 	 - 	 1,980,000
Piong Teck Onn 	 - 	 1,980,000 	 - 	 1,980,000
Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen,
   DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP 	 1,800,000 	 1,980,000 	 (1,800,000) 	 1,980,000
Piong Teck Min 	 - 	 1,980,000 	 - 	 1,980,000

By virtue of their interests in the holding company, namely Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn. Bhd., Piong Teck Min, Piong Teck Onn and Y. 
Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen, DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP are deemed interested in shares of all the Company’s subsidiaries to the extent the 
Company has an interest. 

None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related corporations 
during the financial year.
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Employees’ share options scheme

The Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) of the Company which was approved by the shareholders at an extraordinary general 
meeting held on 10 July 2003 has expired on 23 July 2013 (herein referred to as “former ESOS”).

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 29 July 2013, the Company’s shareholders approved another establishment of an ESOS of 
not more than 15% of the total issued and paid-up ordinary shares of the Company to eligible Directors and employees of the Group 
(herein referred to as “new ESOS”). 

The principal features of the new ESOS are disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.

The Company has been granted exemption by the Companies Commission of Malaysia from having to disclose the list of option holders 
holding share options of less than 250,000 shares.	 	 	
		
The eligible directors and employees who have been granted and have unexercised share options of 250,000 or more as at the end of 
the financial year are as follows:-

No.	N ame of Options Holders	N umber of Share Options

1.	 Chin Swee Chang	  1,980,000 
2.	 Piong Chee Wei	  1,980,000 
3.	 Piong Teck Min	  1,980,000 
4.	 Piong Teck Onn	  1,980,000 
5.	 Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen, DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP	 1,980,000 
6.	 Cheah Ming Loong	  600,000 
7.	 Daniel Chua Chong Liang	  600,000 
8.	 Hiew Mein Foong	  600,000 
9.	 Wong Huey Ling	  300,000 
10.	 Gan Ching Ching	  250,000 
11.	 Piong Teck Fong	  250,000 
12.	 Sarj Kumar	  250,000 
13.	 Shelvan A/L Sinniah	  250,000 
14.	 Tan Poh Huat	  250,000 
15.	 Teh Meng Li	 250,000 
16.	 Victor A/L George Philips	 250,000 

Directors’ benefits

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company was a 
party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other 
body corporate, other than those arising from the share options granted to the directors under the ESOS.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits included 
in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of 
the Company as shown in Note 27(d) to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company with any director or 
with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest other than as disclosed in Note 
27 to the financial statements.

Other statutory information

(a)	 Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for 
impairment losses on receivables, and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate 
allowance had been made for impairment losses on receivables; and
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Other statutory information (cont’d)

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the ordinary 
course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i)	 the amount written off for bad debts or allowance for impairment losses on receivables in the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and 

(ii)	 the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence to the 
existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e)	 As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the 
liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f)	 In the opinion of the directors:

(i)	 no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months 
after the end of the financial year which will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their 
obligations when they fall due; and

(ii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and 
the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the 
financial year in which this report is made.

Auditors

The auditors, Messrs. Crowe Horwath, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 20 October 2014.

_______________________________	 _______________________________
Piong Teck Onn	Y . Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen, 
		    DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Section 169 (15) of the Companies Act 1965

Statutory declaration
Pursuant to Section 169 (16) of the Companies Act 1965

We, Piong Teck Onn and Y. Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen, DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP, being two of the directors of Kotra Industries Berhad, 
state that, in the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 42 to 87 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia 
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2014 and of their financial 
performance and the cash flows for the financial year ended on that date.

The supplementary information set out in Note 33, which is not part of the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 20 October 2014.

_______________________________	 _______________________________
Piong Teck Onn	Y . Bhg. Datuk Piong Teck Yen, 
		    DMSM, DSM, PJK, JP

I, Daniel Chua Chong Liang, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Kotra Industries Berhad, do solemnly 
and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 42 to 87 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct, and I 
make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations 
Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by 
abovenamed Daniel Chua Chong Liang, 
at Melaka in the State of Melaka
on 20 October 2014
		  _______________________________
		D  aniel Chua Chong Liang

Before me, 

Ong San Kee
Pesuruhjaya Sumpah
Commissioner of Oaths
349-B & 351-B
Jalan Ong Kim Wee
75300 Melaka
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Kotra Industries Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
Company No: 497632-P

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Kotra Industries Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 June 
2014 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 42 to 87. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act 1965 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion	

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the Company as of 30 June 
2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:-

(a)	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries 
of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b)	 We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements 
are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we 
have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(c)	 The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made 
under Section 174(3) of the Act.



41Annual report 2014 • Kotra Industries Berhad

Independent auditors’ report (cont’d)
to the members of Kotra Industries Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
Company No: 497632-P

Other reporting responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 33 on page 88 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information 
in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of 
Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in 
all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act 1965 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Crowe Horwath	L ee Kok Wai
Firm No.: AF 1018	 Approval No: 2760/06/16 (J)
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

Date: 20 October 2014					   
		
Melaka
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Statements of PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 	
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014 	

 	G roup 	C ompany 
	N ote 	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 
		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Revenue 	 4	  147,371	 131,294	 720	 720

Other operating income	 5	 3,007	 1,831	 -	 -

Raw materials and consumables used	 	 (54,253)	 (35,176)	 -	 -

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress	 	 11,001	 (4,810)	 -	 -

Employee benefits expenses	 6	 (37,318)	 (32,453)	 (598)	 (254)

Selling and distribution expenses	 	 (28,954)	 (25,161)	 -	 -

Depreciation and amortisation	 	 (11,499)	 (10,939)	 -	 -

Other operating expenses	 	 (15,463)	 (12,624)	 (238)	 (255)

Finance costs	 7	 (8,127)	 (8,133)	 -	 -

Profit/(Loss) before taxation	 8	 5,765	 3,829	 (116)	 211

Income tax expense	 9	 (105)	 (142)	 (97)	 (125)

Profit/(Loss) after taxation	 	 5,660	 3,687	 (213)	 86

Other comprehensive income		  -	 -	 -	 -

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the financial year	 	 5,660	 3,687	 (213)	 86

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders
   of the Company (sen):
-  Basic	 10	 4.29	 2.89
-  Diluted	 10	 4.13	 2.85

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



43Annual report 2014 • Kotra Industries Berhad

Statements of financial position 	
As at 30 June 2014 	

 	G roup 	C ompany 
	N ote 	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 
		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 11	 169,599	 160,932	 -	 -
Investment properties	 12	 1,545	 1,571	 -	 -
Investment in subsidiaries	 13	 -	 -	 117,536	 110,463

	 	 171,144	 162,503	 117,536	 110,463

Current assets
Inventories	 14	 38,861	 28,962	 -	 -
Trade receivables	 15	 45,883	 48,483	 -	 -
Other receivables	 16	 2,836	 7,032	 1	 1
Amounts owing by subsidiaries	 17	 -	 -	 269	 323
Derivative assets	 18	 87	 -	 -	 -
Cash and bank balances	 19	 13,398	 16,321	 1,074	 2,958

	 	 101,065	 100,798	 1,344	 3,282

Total assets	 	 272,209	 263,301	 118,880	 113,745

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holder of the Company
Share capital	 20	 66,053	 63,888	 66,053	 63,888
Retained earnings	 21	 49,057	 43,280	 48,782	 48,966
Other reserves	 22	 3,953	 811	 3,953	 811

Total equity	 	 119,063	 107,979	 118,788	 113,665

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings	 23	 84,049	 90,198	 -	 -
Deferred income	 24	 310	 -	 -	 -

	 	 84,359	 90,198	 -	 -

Current liabilities
Borrowings	 23	 37,661	 35,836	 -	 -
Trade payables	 25	 20,913	 18,644	 -	 -
Other payables	 26	 10,213	 10,582	 92	 80
Derivative liabilities	 18	 -	 62	 -	 -

	 	 68,787	 65,124	 92	 80

Total liabilities	 	 153,146	 155,322	 92	 80

Total equity and liabilities	 	 272,209	 263,301	 118,880	 113,745

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of changes in equity 	
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014 	

 	N on-distributable 	D istributable

			S   hare

	S hare	S hare	 option	R etained	T otal

	 capital	 premium	 reserve	 earnings	 equity

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Group

At 1 July 2012	 61,903	 3	 636	 39,593	 102,135

Issuance of shares	 1,985	 283	 -	 -	 2,268

Share-based payment transactions	 -	 -	 (111)	 -	 (111)

Profit after taxation, representing total comprehensive

   income for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 3,687	 3,687

At 30 June 2013	 63,888	 286	 525	 43,280	 107,979

Issuance of shares	 2,165	 218	 -	 -	 2,383

Share-based payment transactions

- Share options exercised	 -	 408	 (408)	 -	 -

- Share options granted under new ESOS	 -	 -	 3,041	 -	 3,041

- Share options expired transferred to retained earnings	 -	 -	 (117)	 117	 -

Profit after taxation, representing total comprehensive

   income for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 5,660	 5,660

At 30 June 2014	 66,053	 912	 3,041	 49,057	 119,063

Company

Restated balance at 1 July 2012	 61,903	 3	 636	 48,880	 111,422

Issuance of shares	 1,985	 283	 -	 -	 2,268

Share-based payment transactions	 -	 -	 (111)	 -	 (111)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 86	 86

At 30 June 2013	 63,888	 286	 525	 48,966	 113,665

Issuance of shares	 2,165	 218	 -	 -	 2,383

Share-based payment transactions

- Share options exercised	 -	 408	 (408)	 -	 -

- Share options granted under new ESOS	 -	 -	 3,041	 -	 3,041

- Share options expired transferred to retained earnings	 -	 -	 (117)	 29	 (88)

Total comprehensive expense for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 (213)	 (213)

At 30 June 2014	 66,053	 912	 3,041	 48,782	 118,788
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Statements of cash flows 	
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014

 	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(Loss) before taxation	 	 5,765	 3,829	 (116)	 211

Adjustments for :

Amortisation of deferred income	 	 (19)	 -	 -	 -

Bad debts written off	 	 -	 5	 -	 -

Depreciation and amortisation:

- investment properties	 	 26	 26	 -	 -

- property, plant and equipment	 	 11,473	 10,913	 -	 -

Fair value gain on derivatives	 	 (149)	 (75)	 -	 -

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		  (12)	 -	 -	 -

Impairment loss on trade receivables	 	 297	 391	 -	 -

Interest expense	 	 8,127	 8,133	 -	 -

Interest income		  (1)	 (1)	 -	 -

Inventories written off	 	 1,612	 727	 -	 -

Property, plant and equipment written off		  1	 31	 -	 -

Rental income from investment properties	 	 (89)	 (87)	 -	 -

Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables	 	 (104)	 (164)	 -	 -

Share-based payment under ESOS	 	 3,041	 (111)	 380	 -

Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign exchange	 	 768	 (319)	 -	 -

Operating profit before working capital changes	 	 30,736	 23,298	 264	 211

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories	 	 (11,511)	 5,542	 -	 -

Decrease/(Increase) in receivables	 	 1,264	 (6,486)	 -	 -

Increase in payables	 	 1,773	 43	 -	 -

Cash from operations	 	 22,262	 22,397	 264	 211

Interest paid	 	 (2,067)	 (2,051)	 -	 -

Tax paid	 	 (85)	 (100)	 (85)	 (86)

Tax refund		  30	 -	 -	 -

Net cash from operating activities	 	 20,140	 20,246	 179	 125
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Statements of cash flows (cont’d)	
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014

 	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Cash flows for investing activities

Interest received		  1	 1	 -	 -

Increase in investment in subsidiary	 	 -	 -	 (4,500)	 -

Rental received from investment properties	 	 89	 87	 -	 -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 29)	 	 (13,004)	 (11,520)	 -	 -

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	 	 25	 -	 -	 -

Net cash for investing activities	 	 (12,889)	 (11,432)	 (4,500)	 -

Cash flows (for)/from financing activities

Drawdown of term loans	 	 -	 1,118	 -	 -

Government grant received	 	 329	 -	 -	 -

Repayment of other short term borrowings	 	 (1,746)	 (392)	 -	 -

Proceeds from issuance of shares	 	 2,383	 2,268	 2,383	 2,268

Interest paid	 	 (6,060)	 (6,082)	 -	 -

Repayment of term loans	 	 (2,408)	 (486)	 -	 -

Repayment of hire purchase	 	 (292)	 -	 -	 -

Repayment from a subsidiary	 	 -	 -	 54	 36

Net cash (for)/from financing activities	 	 (7,794)	 (3,574)	 2,437	 2,304

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents	 	 (543)	 5,240	 (1,884)	 2,429

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	 	 (130)	 58	 -	 -

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year	 	 11,712	 6,414	 2,958	 529

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year (Note 19)	 	 11,039	 11,712	 1,074	 2,958

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



47Annual report 2014 • Kotra Industries Berhad

Notes to the financial statements 	
30 June 2014

1.	C orporate information

The Company is a public limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad. The principal place of business is located at No. 1, 2 & 3, Jalan TTC 12, Cheng Industrial Estate, 75250 
Melaka.		

The Company is principally involved in investment holding and the provision of management services. The principal activities of 
its subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these 
activities during the financial year.

The holding company is Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated in Malaysia, which the directors also regard 
as the ultimate holding company.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 
20 October 2014.

2.	B asis of preparation	

The financial statements of the Group are prepared under the historical cost convention and modified to include other bases of 
valuation as disclosed in other sections under significant accounting policies, and in compliance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia.

(a)	 During the current financial year, the Group has adopted the following new accounting standards and interpretations (including 
the consequential amendments, if any):-

MFRSs and IC Interpretations (Including The Consequential Amendments)

•	 MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
•	 MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
•	 MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
•	 MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
•	 MFRS 119 (2011) Employee Benefits
•	 MFRS 127 (2011) Separate Financial Statements
•	 MFRS 128 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
•	 Amendments to MFRS 7: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
•	 Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 11 and MFRS 12: Transition Guidance
•	 IC Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
•	 Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2009 – 2011 Cycle

The adoption of the above accounting standards and interpretations (including the consequential amendments) did not have 
any material impact on the Group’s financial statements except as follows:-

MFRS 12 is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated 
structured entities. MFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and requires extensive disclosures of which the additional disclosures 
are disclosed in Note 13 - the respective investment in subsidiary notes to the financial statements.
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2.	B asis of preparation	(Cont’d)

(b)	 The Group has not applied in advance the following accounting standards and interpretations (including the consequential 
amendments, if any) that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) but are not yet effective for 
the current financial year:-

MFRSs and IC Interpretations (Including The Consequential Amendments)	E ffective Date

•	 MFRS 9 (2009) Financial Instruments	 )
•	 MFRS 9 (2010) Financial Instruments	 ) To be 
•	 MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Hedge Accounting and Amendments	 ) announced
	 to MFRS 7, MFRS 9 and MFRS 139)	 ) by MASB
•	 Amendments to MFRS 9 and MFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date	 )
	 of MFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures	 )
•	 MFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts	 1 January 2016
•	 MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers	 1 January 2017
•	 Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127 (2011): Investment Entities	 1 January 2014
•	 Amendments to MFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations	 1 January 2016
•	 Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138: Clarification of Acceptable 	 	

Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation	 1 January 2016
•	 Amendment to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141: Agriculture Bearer Plants	 1 January 2016
•	 Amendments to MFRS 119: Defined Benefit Plans – Employee Contributions 	 1 July 2014
•	 Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities	 1 January 2014
•	 Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets	 1 January 2014
•	 Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting	 1 January 2014
•	 IC Interpretation 21 Levies	 1 January 2014
•	 Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010 – 2012 Cycle	 1 July 2014
•	 Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011 – 2013 Cycle	 1 July 2014

The above mentioned accounting standards and interpretations (including the consequential amendments) do not have any 
financial impact on the Group’s financial statements upon their initial application.

3.	S ignificant accounting policies

(a)	C ritical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the directors and management and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
estimates and judgements that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures, and have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed as 
below:-

(i)	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The estimates for the residual values, useful lives and related depreciation charges for the property, plant and equipment 
are based on commercial and production factors which could change significantly as a result of technical innovations 
and competitors’ actions in response to the market conditions.

The Group anticipates that the residual values of its property, plant and equipment will be insignificant. As a result, 
residual values are not being taken into consideration for the computation of the depreciable amount. 

Changes in the expected level of usage and technological development could impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)	C ritical accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(ii)	 Income taxes

There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination may be different from the initial 
estimate. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on its understanding of the prevailing tax laws and estimates of 
whether such taxes will be due in the ordinary course of business. Where the final outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in 
the year in which such determination is made. 

(iii)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

When the recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the estimate of the value-in-use of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset is allocated, the management is required to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 
from the cash-generating unit and also to apply a suitable discount rate in order to determine the present value of those 
cash flows. 

(iv)	 Write-down of inventories

Reviews are made periodically by management on damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. These reviews 
require judgement and estimates. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revisions to the valuation of 
inventories.

(v)	 Impairment of trade and other receivables

An impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. Management 
specifically reviews its loans and receivables financial assets and analyses historical bad debts, customer creditworthiness 
and changes in the customer payment terms when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for 
impairment losses. Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. If the expectation is 
different from the estimation, such difference will impact the carrying value of receivables. 

(vi)	 Classification of leasehold land

The classification of leasehold land as a finance lease or an operating lease requires the use of judgement in determining 
the extent to which risks and rewards incidental to its ownership lie. Despite the fact that there will be no transfer of 
ownership by the end of the lease term and that the lease term does not constitute the major part of the indefinite 
economic life of the land, management considered that the present value of the minimum lease payments approximated 
to the fair value of the land at the inception of the lease. Accordingly, management judged that the Group has acquired 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the land through a finance lease. 

(vii)	 Fair values estimates for certain financial assets and liabilities

The Group carries certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates 
and judgement. While significant components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective 
evidence, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group uses different valuation methodologies. Any 
changes in fair value of these assets and liabilities would affect profit and/or equity.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)	C ritical accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d) 

(viii)	 Share-based payments
	

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
investments at the date at which they are granted. The estimating of the fair value requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the 
grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 
option volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.

(b)	B asis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to the 
end of the reporting period.

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to the effective date on which 
control ceases, as appropriate.

Intragroup transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Where necessary, adjustments are 
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.

(i)	 Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. Under the acquisition method, the consideration 
transferred for acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity 
interests issued by the Group at the acquisition date. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs, other than the costs to issue 
debt or equity securities, are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

In a business combination achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured to fair value 
at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-controlling interests in the acquiree may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. 

(ii)	 Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from 
the equity attributable to owners of the Company. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed 
to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at 
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)	B asis of consolidation (cont’d)

(iii)	 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

All changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair 
value of consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity of the Group.

(iv)	 Loss of control

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group recognises any gain or loss on disposal in profit or loss which is 
calculated as the difference between:-

-	 the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest in the former 
subsidiary; and

-	 the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the former subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the former subsidiary are accounted for in 
the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of (i.e. reclassified to profit or 
loss or transferred directly to retained profits). The fair value of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the 
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under MFRS 139 
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly venture.

(c)	 Functional and foreign currency

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates, which is the functional currency. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000) except when otherwise indicated.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the respective functional currencies on initial recognition, using 
the exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are translated at the rates ruling as of that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using 
exchange rates that existed when the values were determined. All exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss. 

(d)	 Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised in the statements of financial position when the Group has become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are reported as an expense or 
income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Financial instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

A financial instrument is recognised initially at its fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of the financial instrument (other than a financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss) are added to/deducted 
from the fair value on initial recognition, as appropriate. Transaction costs on the financial instrument at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments recognised in the statements of financial position are disclosed in the individual policy statement 
associated with each item.

(i)	 Financial assets

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-
maturity investments, loans and receivables financial assets, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. 

•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when the financial asset is either 
held for trading or is designated to eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
that would otherwise arise. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. Dividend income from this category of financial assets is recognised in 
profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-current. Financial assets 
that are held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current whereas financial assets that are not held 
primarily for trading purposes are presented as current or non-current based on the settlement date.

•	 Held-to-maturity investments

As at the end of the reporting period, there were no financial assets classified under this category.

•	 Loans and receivables financial assets

Trade receivables and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables financial assets. Loans and receivables financial assets are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment loss. Interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be 
immaterial. 

Loans and receivables financial assets are classified as current assets, except for those having settlement dates 
later than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current assets.

•	 Available-for-sale financial assets

As at the end of the reporting period, there were no financial assets classified under this category.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii)	 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss. 

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are either held for trading or are designated to 
eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise. Derivatives are 
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(iii)	 Equity instruments

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds. 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when approved for appropriation. 

(iv)	 Derecognition

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks 
and rewards of the asset. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

(e)	I nvestments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries including the fair value adjustments on intergroup loans at inception date (and the share options 
granted to employees of the subsidiaries) are stated at cost in the statement of financial position of the Company, and are 
reviewed for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
values may not be recoverable. The cost of the investments includes transaction costs.

On the disposal of the investments in subsidiaries, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the investments is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f)	 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss (unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset) on the straight-line 
method to write off the depreciable amount of the assets over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation of an asset does not 
cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated. The principal annual 
rates used for this purpose are:-

Industrial buildings and installations	 2% -10%
Leasehold land	 Over the lease period of 91 or 99 years
Machinery and equipment	 5% -20%
Motor vehicles	 10%
Office equipment	 10%
Computer equipment	 20%
Furniture and fittings	 10%
Renovation	 10%

The depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period to ensure that the amount, method and periods of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates 
and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of the property, plant and 
equipment.

Building and machinery under construction represents assets which are not ready for commercial use at the balance sheet 
date. Building and machinery under construction are stated at cost, and are depreciated accordingly when the assets are 
completed and ready for commercial use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are replaced is derecognised. The costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Cost also comprises 
the initial estimate of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located for which the Group is 
obligated to incur when the asset is acquired, if applicable. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset is recognised in profit or loss.

(g)	B orrowing costs

Borrowing costs, directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part 
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

(h)	I nvestment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. Investment 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any, consistent with the accounting 
policy for property, plant and equipment as stated in Note 3(f) to the financial statements.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h)	I nvestment properties (cont’d)

Investment properties are derecognised when they have either been disposed off or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal.

On the derecognition of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss.

(i)	I mpairment 

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets (other than those categorised at fair value through profit or loss), are assessed at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. For an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 

An impairment loss in respect of held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables financial assets is recognised in 
profit or loss and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not 
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 

(ii)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying values of assets, other than those to which MFRS 136 - Impairment of Assets does not apply, are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period for impairment when there is an indication that the assets might be impaired. Impairment 
is measured by comparing the carrying values of the assets with their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of 
the assets is the higher of the assets’ fair value less costs to sell and their value in use, which is measured by reference 
to discounted future cash flow.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

When there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, a subsequent increase in the 
recoverable amount of an asset is treated as a reversal of the previous impairment loss and is recognised to the extent 
of the carrying amount of the asset that would have been determined (net of amortisation and depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised. The reversal is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

(j)	A ssets under hire purchase

Assets acquired under hire purchase are capitalised in the financial statements at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments and, are depreciated in accordance with the policy set out in 
Note 3(f) above. Each hire purchase payment is allocated between liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant 
rate on the finance balance outstanding. Finance charges are recognised in profit or loss over the period of the respective hire 
purchase agreements.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k)	I nventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis, and 
comprises the purchase price and incidentals incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
Cost of finished goods and work-in-progress includes the cost of materials, labour and appropriate proportion of production 
overhead.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 

(l)	I ncome taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the reporting period and is 
measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences other than those that arise from goodwill or excess 
of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the 
business combination costs or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 
combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transactions either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred 
tax arising from a business combination is included in the resulting goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the business combination costs. 

(m)	C ash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, bank overdrafts and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value with original maturity periods of three months or less.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n)	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, when it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of 
the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is the present value of the estimated 
expenditure required to settle the obligation. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as interest expense in profit or loss.

(o)	E mployee benefits

(i)	 Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group.

(ii)	 Defined contribution plans

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in profit or loss in the period to which they relate. 
Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further liability in respect of the defined contribution plans.

(iii)	 Share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation plan, under which the Group receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company (share options).

At grant date, the fair value of the share options is recognised as an expense on a straight-line method over the vesting 
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding credit to 
employee share option reserve in equity. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of 
the share options that are expected to vest. Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transaction 
are not taken into account in determining the fair value.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, the grant of the share options to the subsidiaries’ employees is not 
recognised as an expense. Instead, the fair value of the share options measured at the grant date is accounted for as an 
increase to the investment in subsidiary undertaking with a corresponding credit to the employee share option reserve.

Upon expiry of the share option, the employee share option reserve is transferred to retained profits.

When the share options are exercised, the employee share option reserve is transferred to share capital or share premium 
if new ordinary shares are issued, (or to treasury shares if the share options are satisfied by the reissuance of treasury 
shares).

(p)	R elated parties

A party is related to an entity (referred to as the ‘reporting entity’) if:-

(a)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person:-

(i)	 has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p)	R elated parties (cont’d)

(b)	 An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:-

(i)	 The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and 
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group 
of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an entity 
related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related 
to the reporting entity.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a) above.

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) above has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, 
that person in their dealings with the entity.

(q)	C ontingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by 
the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present 
obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources 
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability 
of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(r)	S egmental information

Segment revenue and expenses are those directly attributable to the segments and include any joint revenue and expenses 
where a reasonable basis of allocation exists. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist principally 
of property, plant and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation, where applicable), other investments, inventories, 
receivables, and cash and bank balances. 

Most segment assets can be directly attributed to the segments on a reasonable basis. Segment assets do not include 
income tax assets, whilst segment liabilities do not include income tax liabilities and borrowings from financial institutions.

Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between segments. The prices charged on intersegment transactions 
are based on normal commercial terms. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s)	 Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
a valuation technique. The measurement assumes that the transaction takes place either in the principal market or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes 
into account a market’s participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. However, this basis does not apply 
to share-based payment transactions.

For financial reporting purposes, the fair value measurements are analysed into level 1 to level 3 as follows:-

Level 1:	 Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liability that the entity can access at 
the measurement date;

Level 2:	 Inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3:	 Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The transfer of fair value between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the 
transfer.

(t)	R evenue recognition

(i)	 Sale of goods

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised upon the execution of 
sales order and delivery of goods and where applicable, net of returns and trade discounts. 

(ii)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis.

(iii)	 Management fee

Management fee is recognised on an accrual basis.

(iv)	 Rental income

Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.

(v)	 Government grants

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the 
period necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate for.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the 
expected life of the related asset.
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4.	R evenue

 	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Sale of goods	 	 147,371	 131,294	 -	 -

Management fees	 	 -	 -	 720	 720

	 	 147,371	 131,294	 720	 720

5.	O ther operating income

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Amortisation of deferred income	 	 19	 -	 -	 -

Fair value gain on derivative financial instrument	 	 149	 75	 -	 -

Gain on foreign currency exchange

- realised	 	 2,342	 924	 -	 -

- unrealised	 	 -	 319	 -	 -

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		  12	 -	 -	 -

Repo interest income	 	 1	 1	 -	 -

Rental income from investment properties	 	 89	 87	 -	 -

Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables	 	 104	 164	 -	 -

Miscellaneous	 	 291	 261	 -	 -

	 	 3,007	 1,831	 -	 -

6.	E mployee benefits expenses

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Short term employee benefits	 	 29,990	 28,376	 209	 247

Contributions to defined contribution plan	 	 2,838	 2,786	 6	 6

Share options expenses	 	 3,041	 (111)	 380	 -

Other personnel expenses	 	 1,449	 1,402	 3	 1

	 	 37,318	 32,453	 598	 254

Included in employee benefits expenses are key management personnel compensation as disclosed in Note 27(d) to the financial 
statements.
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7.	 Finance costs

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Interest expense on:

- Term loans	 	 6,060	 6,082	 -	 -

- Other bank borrowings	 	 2,067	 2,051	 -	 -

	 	 8,127	 8,133	 -	 -

8.	 Profit/(Loss) before taxation

Profit/(Loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging:-

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Auditors’ remuneration:

- statutory audit	 	 56	 57	 16	 16

- other services		  3	 3	 3	 3

Bad debts written off	 	 -	 5	 -	 -

Depreciation and amortisation:

- investment properties	 	 26	 26	 -	 -

- property, plant and equipment	 	 11,473	 10,913	 -	 -

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties:

- non-rental generating properties		  4	 4	 -	 -

- rental generating properties		  12	 12	 -	 -

Directors’ remuneration:

- fees	 	 162	 202	 162	 202

- emoluments	 	 1,687	 1,606	 -	 -

- other short term employee benefits	 	 203	 193	 -	 -

Impairment loss on trade receivables	 	 297	 391	 -	 -

Loss on foreign exchange

- realised	 	 1,026	 618	 -	 -

- unrealised	 	 768	 -	 -	 -

Property, plant and equipment written off		  1	 31	 -	 -

Rental of equipment	 	 189	 112	 -	 -

Rental of premises	 	 344	 315	 -	 -

Research and development expenses	 	 587	 521	 -	 -
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9.	I ncome tax expense

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Income tax:

- Current year	 	 116	 104	 98	 86

- (Over)/Under provision in previous financial years	 	 (11)	 38	 (1)	 39

	 	 105	 142	 97	 125

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to the profit/(loss) before taxation at the statutory tax rate to income tax expense 
at the effective tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:-

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Group

Profit before taxation	 5,765	 3,829

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25%	 1,441	 957

Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes	 932	 389

Effect of double deduction tax incentives	 (3,659)	 (2,910)

Deferred tax assets not recognised on current year unutilised

   business losses and other deductible temporary differences	 1,402	 1,668

(Over)/Under provision in previous financial years	 (11)	 38

Income tax expense	 105	 142	
	

	 2014	 2013

	R M’000	R M’000

Company

(Loss)/Profit before taxation	 (116)	 211

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25%	 (29)	 53

Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes	 127	 33

(Over)/Under provision in previous financial years	 (1)	 39

Income tax expense	 97	 125
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9.	I ncome tax expense (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross) due to uncertainty of their 
recoverability in view of the expected availability of additional tax incentives:

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Tax loss carry-forwards	 	 15,581	 15,581	 -	 -

Other deductible temporary differences	 	 28,146	 22,538	 -	 -

	 	 43,727	 38,119	 -	 -

The statutory tax rate will be reduced to 24% from the current financial year’s rate of 25%, effective year of assessment 2016.

10.	E arnings per share

(i)	 Basic

The basic earnings per share of the Group is calculated by dividing the profit after taxation for the financial year by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

	  2014 	 2013

Profit after taxation (RM’000)	 5,660	 3,687

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)	 131,939	 127,776

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)	 4.29	 2.89

(ii)	 Diluted

The diluted earnings per share of the Group is calculated by dividing the profit after taxation for the financial year by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year after adjusted for the dilutive effects of share 
options granted to employees.

	  2014 	 2013

Profit after taxation (RM’000)	 5,660	 3,687

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)	 131,939	 127,776

Adjustment for ESOS (‘000)	 5,074	 1,605

	 137,013	 129,381

Diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen)	 4.13	 2.85
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11.	 Property, plant and equipment

	 As at				D    epreciation	A s at

	 1.7.2013	A dditions	D isposal	 Written off	 charges	 30.6.2014

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Group

Net carrying amount

Industrial buildings and installations	 49,676	 601	 -	 -	 (1,181)	 49,096

Leasehold land	 4,242	 -	 -	 -	 (52)	 4,190

Machinery and equipment	 103,126	 6,160	 -	 (1)	 (9,270)	 100,015

Motor vehicles	 618	 -	 -	 -	 (116)	 502

Office equipment	 228	 6	 (7)	 -	 (38)	 189

Computer equipment	 1,078	 68	 (6)	 -	 (521)	 619

Furniture and fittings	 1,897	 265	 -	 -	 (280)	 1,882

Renovation	 67	 16	 -	 -	 (15)	 68

Building and machinery under 

   construction	 -	 13,038	 -	 -	 -	 13,038

Total	 160,932	 20,154	 (13)	 (1)	 (11,473)	 169,599

	 As at				D    epreciation	A s at

	 1.7.2012	A dditions	R eclassification	 Written off	 charges	 30.6.2013

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Group

Net carrying amount

Industrial buildings and installations	 50,696	 148	 -	 -	 (1,168)	 49,676

Leasehold land	 4,294	 -	 -	 -	 (52)	 4,242

Machinery and equipment	 105,719	 6,118	 (7)	 (30)	 (8,674)	 103,126

Motor vehicles	 500	 242	 -	 -	 (124)	 618

Office equipment	 243	 26	 7	 (1)	 (47)	 228

Computer equipment	 972	 670	 -	 -	 (564)	 1,078

Furniture and fittings	 2,052	 115	 -	 -	 (270)	 1,897

Renovation	 81	 -	 -	 -	 (14)	 67

Total	 164,557	 7,319	 -	 (31)	 (10,913)	 160,932
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11.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

		A  ccumulated	C arrying

	C ost	 depreciation	 amount

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Group 

At 30 June 2014

Industrial buildings and installations	 57,082	 (7,986)	 49,096

Leasehold land	 4,892	 (702)	 4,190

Machinery and equipment	 140,514	 (40,499)	 100,015

Motor vehicles	 2,221	 (1,719)	 502

Office equipment	 475	 (286)	 189

Computer equipment	 3,458	 (2,839)	 619

Furniture and fittings	 3,040	 (1,158)	 1,882

Renovation	 158	 (90)	 68

Building and machinery under construction	 13,038	 -	 13,038

Total at 30 June 2014	 224,878	 (55,279)	 169,599

At 30 June 2013

Industrial buildings and installations	 56,482	 (6,806)	 49,676

Leasehold land	 4,892	 (650)	 4,242

Machinery and equipment	 134,411	 (31,285)	 103,126

Motor vehicles	 2,221	 (1,603)	 618

Office equipment	 482	 (254)	 228

Computer equipment	 3,401	 (2,323)	 1,078

Furniture and fittings	 2,774	 (877)	 1,897

Renovation	 142	 (75)	 67

Total at 30 June 2013	 204,805	 (43,873)	 160,932

Included in the assets of the Group at the end of the reporting period were machinery and equipment with a total net book value 
of RM3,031,600 (2013: Nil), which were acquired under hire purchase terms. 
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11.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment pledged to secure borrowings as referred to in Note 23(i) are as follows:-

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Industrial buildings and installations	 49,096	 49,676

Leasehold land	 4,190	 4,242

Machinery and equipment	 82,386	 89,287

Furniture and fittings	 703	 812

	 136,375	 144,017

12.	I nvestment properties

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Cost

At 1 July/30 June	 2,105	 2,105

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July	 534	 508

Depreciation charge for the year	 26	 26

At 30 June	 560	 534

Net carrying amount	 1,545	 1,571

The investment properties comprising freehold land and building have been pledged to a licensed bank as security for banking 
facilities granted to the Group as referred to Note 23(i).

The fair value as at end of the reporting period has been arrived at on the basis of the Directors’ best estimate, by reference to a 
valuation report carried out at the end of the prior reporting period and market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. 
Valuations at the end of the prior reporting period were performed by accredited independent valuers based on comparison 
method. The directors are of the opinion that the fair value of the investment properties as at the end of the reporting period 
approximates their fair values which amounted to RM2,540,000.
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13.	I nvestment in subsidiaries

	C ompany

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Unquoted shares, at deemed cost	 117,536 	 110,463 

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Country of
incorporation

Effective equity
interest

Principal activities 2014 
%

 2013 
%

Kotra Pharma (M) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100  100 Developing, manufacturing and trading of 
pharmaceutical and healthcare products

Appeton Healthcare Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100  100 Dormant

14.	I nventories

	 Group

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

At cost:

Raw materials	 11,429	 12,530

Work-in-progress	 1,965	 1,674

Finished goods	 25,467	 14,758

	 38,861	 28,962

Recognised in profit or loss:-

Inventories recognised as cost of sales	 41,640	 39,259

Amount written off	 1,612	 727
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15.	T rade receivables

	 Group

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Trade receivables	 47,544	 49,955

Less: Allowance for impairment losses	 (1,661)	 (1,472)

	 45,883	 48,483

Allowance for impairment losses:-

At 1 July	 1,472	 1,291

Addition during the financial year	 297	 391

Reversal during the financial year	 (104)	 (164)

Written off during the financial year	 (4)	 (46)

At 30 June	 1,661	 1,472

The Group’s normal trade credit terms range from 60 to 120 days (2013: 60 to 120 days).

Included in trade receivables are amounts due from related parties as disclosed in Note 27(c) to the financial statements.

16.	O ther receivables

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Other receivables:-

Third parties	 	 1,056	 928	 -	 -

Advances to suppliers of property, plant and equipment	 	 1,359	 5,647	 -	 -

	 	 2,415	 6,575	 -	 -

Tax recoverable	 	 -	 36	 -	 -

Deposits	 	 256	 244	 1	 1

Prepayments	 	 165	 177	 -	 -

	 	 2,836	 7,032	 1	 1

The advances to suppliers of property, plant and equipment are unsecured and interest-free. The amount owing will be offset 
against future billing from suppliers upon completion.
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17.	A mounts owing by subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amount owing 
is to be settled in cash.

18.	D erivative assets/(liabilities)

			C   ontract/ 

			N   otional	G roup

			A   mount 	 2014	 2013

			R   M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Derivative assets/(liabilities)

Forward foreign currency contracts	 	 	 2,831	 87	 (62)

Forward foreign currency contracts are used to hedge the Group’s sales denominated in United States Dollar (USD) for which firm 
commitments existed at the end of the reporting period. The settlement dates on forward foreign exchange currency contracts 
range between 2 and 5 months (2013: 2 and 11 months) after the end of the reporting period.

The Group has recognised a gain of RM148,506 (2013: RM75,385) arising from fair value changes of derivatives during the financial 
year as disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. The fair value changes were attributed to changes in the foreign exchange 
spot and forward rates. The method and assumptions applied in determining the fair values of derivatives are disclosed in Note 
32(d) to the financial statements.

19.	C ash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:-

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Cash and bank balances	 	 13,398	 16,321	 1,074	 2,958

Less: Bank overdrafts (Note 23)	 	 (2,359)	 (4,609)	 -	 -

Cash and cash equivalents	 	 11,039	 11,712	 1,074	 2,958
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20.	S hare capital

The movements in the authorised and paid-up share capital of the Company are as follows:-

	C ompany

	  Number of ordinary 

	  shares of RM0.50 each 	A mount 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		  ’000 	 ’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Authorised:		  200,000	 200,000	 100,000	 100,000

Issued and fully paid-up:

At 1 July	 	 127,776	 123,806	 63,888	 61,903

New shares issued under the employees share option scheme	 	 4,331	 3,970	 2,165	 1,985

At 30 June	 	 132,107	 127,776	 66,053	 63,888

The Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) of the Company which was approved by the shareholders at an extraordinary 
general meeting held on 10 July 2003 has expired on 23 July 2013 (herein referred to as “former ESOS”).

During the financial year, there was an increased in issued and paid-up ordinary shares from RM63,888,000 to RM66,053,000 
by the issuance of 4,331,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each pursuant to the former ESOS at an average exercise price of 
RM0.55. The new shares were issued for cash considerations. The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with 
the existing shares of the Company.

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 29 July 2013, the Company’s shareholders approved another establishment of an 
ESOS of not more than 15% of the total issued and paid-up ordinary shares of the Company to eligible Directors and employees 
of the Group (herein referred to as “new ESOS”). 

The main features of the new ESOS are as follows:-

(a)	 The maximum number of new shares of the Company, which may be available under the scheme, shall not exceed in aggregate 
15%, or any such amount or percentage as may be permitted by the relevant authorities of the issued and paid-up share 
capital of the Company at any one time during the existence of the ESOS.

(b)	 Eligible directors or employees of the Group are directors or employees of the Group who have been confirmed in the service 
of the Group prior to the offer or, if the employee is serving under an employment contract, the contract should be for a duration 
of at least two (2) years. The maximum allowable allotments for the directors have been approved by the shareholders of the 
Company in a general meeting.

(c)	 The Scheme shall be in force for a period of five (5) years from 30 July 2013 and may be extended for a further period of up 
to five (5) years, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Board upon the recommendation by the ESOS committee and shall 
not in aggregate exceed a duration of ten (10) years from the effective date.

(d)	 The option price may be subjected to a discount of not more than 10% of the average of the market quotation of the shares 
as shown in the daily official list issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the five trading days immediately preceding 
the offer date, or at par value of the shares of the Company, whichever is higher.

(e)	 The option may be exercised by the grantee by notice in writing to the Company in the prescribed form during the option 
period in respect of all or any part of the new shares of the Company comprised in the ESOS.
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20.	S hare capital (cont’d)

The main features of the new ESOS are as follows:- (cont’d)

(f)	 All new ordinary shares issued upon exercise of the options granted under the ESOS will rank pari passu in all respects with 
the existing ordinary shares of the Company, provided always that new ordinary shares so allotted and issued, will not be 
entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and/or other distributions declared, where the entitlement date of which is prior to 
date of allotment and issuance of the new shares.

(g)	 An option holder may, in a particular year, exercise up to such maximum number of shares in the option certificate or as 
determined by the Board of Directors.

(h)	 The option granted to eligible employees will lapse when they are no longer in employment with the Group.

The option prices and the details in the movement of the options granted are as follows:- 

			E   xercise

		E  xercise	 price per

		  price per	 ordinary

Date of	E xercise	 ordinary	 share after	B alance at		D  uring the year	B alance at

offer	 period	 share	 bonus issue	 1.7.2013	G ranted	L apsed	E xercised	E xpired	 30.6.2014

	 	R M	R M

24.7.2003	 24.7.2004	 1.27	 0.577	 760,600	 -	 -	 (507,600)	 (253,000)	 -

24.7.2003	 24.7.2006	 1.27	 0.577	 1,521,640	 -	 -	 (1,015,200)	 (506,440)	 -

24.7.2003	 24.7.2009	 1.27	 0.577	 1,535,280	 -	 -	 (1,015,200)	 (520,080)	 -

15.6.2004	 15.6.2005	 1.12	 0.509	 213,400	 -	 -	 (116,600)	 (96,800)	 -

15.6.2004	 15.6.2007	 1.12	 0.509	 426,800	 -	 -	 (233,200)	 (193,600)	 -

15.6.2004	 15.6.2010	 1.12	 0.509	 426,800	 -	 -	 (233,200)	 (193,600)	 -

12.7.2005	 12.7.2006	 1.17	 0.532	 57,000	 -	 -	 (30,800)	 (26,200)	 -

12.7.2005	 12.7.2008	 1.17	 0.532	 199,600	 -	 -	 (61,600)	 (138,000)	 -

12.7.2005	 12.7.2011	 1.17	 0.532	 199,600	 -	 -	 (61,600)	 (138,000)	 -

21.7.2006	 21.7.2007	 1.17	 0.532	 129,600	 -	 -	 (77,200)	 (52,400)	 -

21.7.2006	 21.7.2009	 1.17	 0.532	 279,200	 -	 -	 (154,400)	 (124,800)	 -

21.7.2006	 21.7.2012	 1.17	 0.532	 279,200	 -	 -	 (154,400)	 (124,800)	 -

2.7.2007	 2.7.2008	 1.72	 0.782	 57,200	 -	 -	 -	 (57,200)	 -

2.7.2007	 2.7.2010	 1.72	 0.782	 114,400	 -	 -	 -	 (114,400)	 -

2.7.2007	 2.7.2012	 1.72	 0.782	 114,400	 -	 -	 -	 (114,400)	 -

17.10.2011	 23.7.2013	 0.50	 0.500	 1,160,000	 -	 -	 (670,000)	 (490,000)	 -

31.7.2013	 31.7.2014	 0.65	 0.650	 -	 3,293,824	 (25,960)	 -	 -	 3,267,864

31.7.2013	 31.7.2016	 0.65	 0.650	 -	 6,587,648	 (51,920)	 -	 -	 6,535,728

31.7.2013	 31.7.2018	 0.65	 0.650	 -	 6,587,648	 (51,920)	 -	 -	 6,535,728

	 	 	 	 7,474,720	 16,469,120	 (129,800)	 (4,331,000)	 (3,143,720)	 16,339,320

The options which lapsed during the financial year were due to resignations of employees.
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20.	S hare capital (cont’d)

Fair value of share options granted pursuant to the new ESOS was estimated using a Black-Scholes model, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair value of the new ESOS measured at grant date and the 
assumptions are as follows:

	 Group and Company

	  2014 	 2013 

Fair value of share options at grant date (RM)	 0.46	 -

Weighted average share price (RM)	 0.68	 -

Exercise price (RM)	 0.65	 -

Expected volatility (%)	 80.35%	 -

Expected life (years)	 5	 -

Risk free rate (%)	 3.04%	 -

There were no options granted in the previous financial year.

21.	R etained earnings

Under the single tier tax system, tax on the Company’s profits is the final tax and accordingly, any dividends declared to the 
shareholders are not subject to tax.

22.	O ther reserves

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Share premium reserve	 (a)	 912	 286	 912	 286

Share options reserve	 (b)	 3,041	 525	 3,041	 525

	 	 3,953	 811	 3,953	 811

(a)	 Share premium reserve

The share premium reserve arose from the issue of shares by way of private placement and public offer less amounts incurred 
for listing expenses and utilised for bonus share issue.
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22.	O ther reserves (cont’d)

(b)	 Share options reserve

	G roup and Company

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Share options under ESOS:

At 1 July	 525	 636

Movement during the year	 2,516	 (111)

At 30 June	 3,041	 525

To share options reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees. This reserve is made up of the 
cumulative value of services received from employees recorded on grant of share options. 

23.	B orrowings

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Short term borrowings

Unsecured:

Bank overdraft	 2,359	 4,609

Bankers’ acceptances	 4,805	 7,390

Revolving credit	 10,059	 10,026

	 17,223	 22,025

Secured:

Bankers’ acceptances	 7,020	 6,451

Hire purchase	 474	 -

Revolving credit	 5,000	 5,000

Term loans	 7,944	 2,360

	 37,661	 35,836

Long term borrowings

Secured:

Hire purchase	 1,843	 -

Term loans	 82,206	 90,198

	 84,049	 90,198
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23.	B orrowings (cont’d)

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Total borrowings

Bank overdraft (Note 19)	 2,359	 4,609

Bankers’ acceptances	 11,825	 13,841

Hire purchase	 2,317	 -

Revolving credit	 15,059	 15,026

Term loans	 90,150	 92,558

	 121,710	 126,034

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Maturity of borrowings

Not later than one year	 37,661	 35,836

Later than one year and not later than two years	 9,520	 7,940

Later than two years and not later than five years	 25,775	 25,643

Later than five years	 48,754	 56,615

	 121,710	 126,034

Hire purchase payables

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Minimum hire purchase payments:

- not later than one year	 613	 -

- later than one year and not later than five years	 2,050	 -

	 2,663	 -

Less: Future finance charges	 (346)	 -

Present value of hire purchase payables	 2,317	 -
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23.	B orrowings (cont’d)

	 The weighted average effective interest rates per annum at the end of the reporting period of borrowings, were as follows:-	

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

	 %	 %

Bank overdrafts	 6.60	 7.12

Bankers’ acceptances	 3.16	 4.23

Hire purchase	 3.50	 -

Revolving credit	 5.61	 5.63

Term loans	 6.61	 6.59

The unsecured short term borrowings of the Group are guaranteed by the Company.	

The secured short term borrowings and term loans are secured by:	

(i)	 fixed charges over certain assets of the Group as disclosed in Note 11 and Note 12 to the financial statements;	

(ii)	 specific debenture for RM25,000,000 over a subsidiary’s machineries;	

(iii)	 debentures over a subsidiary’s all fixed and floating assets both present and future; and	

(iv)	 corporate guarantee from the Company.

24.	D eferred income

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Non-current

Government grant	 310	 -

The Group received a government grant during the financial year in respect of purchase of equipment. The grant is being amortised 
over the useful life of the equipment. During the financial year, RM19,183 (2013: Nil) has been amortised and recognised as other 
income in profit or loss.
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25.	T rade payables

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 60 to 90 days (2013: 60 to 90 days). Included in trade payables are 
amounts due to related parties as disclosed in Note 27(c) to the financial statements.

26.	O ther payables

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Accruals	 	 1,898	 2,893	 49	 49

Payroll liabilities	 	 2,772	 1,843	 -	 -

Due to suppliers of property, plant and equipment	 	 2,195	 1,942	 -	 -

Other payables	 	 3,304	 3,873	 -	 -

Provision for taxation		  44	 31	 43	 31

	 	 10,213	 10,582	 92	 80

27.	S ignificant related party disclosures

(a)	 Identities of related parties
	

In addition to the information detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group has related party relationships with its 
directors, key management personnel and entities within the same group of companies.	

(b)	 Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company also carried out the following 
significant transactions with the related parties during the financial year:-	

	 2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Group

Companies in which key management personnel have significant financial interests:

- contract manufacturing cost paid/payable	 146	 186

- rental of premises paid/payable	 102	 97

- royalty paid/payable	 34	 30

A company in which a close member of the family of certain

   key management personnel has significant financial interests:

- rental of premises received/receivable	 (57)	 (57)

- sales of goods	 (261)	 (539)
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27.	S ignificant related party disclosures (cont’d)

(b)	 (continued)

	 2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Company

A subsidiary

- management fee received/receivable	 (720)	 (720)

(c)	 The outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Companies in which certain key management personnel have significant financial interests:

- trade payables	 (161)	 (128)

A company in which close members of the family of certain key management personnel 

   have significant financial interests:

- trade receivables	 173	 397

(d)	 Compensation of key management personnel	

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Directors’ remuneration

- fees	 	 162	 202	 162	 202

- emoluments	 	 1,687	 1,606	 -	 -

- other short term employee benefits	 	 203	 193	 -	 -

- benefits-in-kind		  1	 1	 -	 -

	 	 2,053	 2,002	 162	 202
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27.	S ignificant related party disclosures (cont’d)

(d)	 (continued)

Executive directors of the Group and Company have been granted the following number of options under the ESOS:

	G roup and Company

	  2014 	 2013 

 	 ’000 	 ’000

At 1 July	 1,800	 5,400

Granted	 7,920	 -

Exercised	 (1,800)	 (3,600)

At 30 June	 7,920	 1,800

	The share options were granted on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the Group. 	

28.	C apital commitments

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

For property, plant and equipment:

- approved and contracted for	 1,092	 15,429

- approved but not contracted for	 9,846	 10,489

	 10,938	 25,918

29.	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Cost of property, plant and equipment purchased	 20,154	 7,319

Advance payment to supplier	 (4,288)	 4,067

Under payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment	 (253)	 134

Amount financed through hire purchase	 (2,609)	 -

Cash disbursed for purchase of property, plant and equipment	 13,004	 11,520
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30.	S egmental reporting

The segment information in respect of the Group’s operating segments for the year ended 30 June 2014 are as follows:-

	 Local	E xport 	T otal

	 2014	 2013	 2014	 2013	 2014	 2013

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

External revenue	 96,891	 89,539	 50,480	 41,755	 147,371	 131,294

Profit from operations	 18,366	 16,229	 4,812	 3,157	 23,178	 19,386

A reconciliation of total profit from operations to total consolidated profit before taxation is provided as follows:-

 		  	T otal

					     2014	 2013

					R     M’000	R M’000

Profit from operations for reportable segments	 	 	 	 	 23,178	 19,386

Expenses managed on a central basis	 	 	 	 	 (12,293)	 (9,255)

Other operating income	 	 	 	 	 3,007	 1,831

Consolidated profit from operations	 	 	 	 	 13,892	 11,962

Finance cost	 	 	 	 	 (8,127)	 (8,133)

Consolidated profit before taxation	 	 	 	 	 5,765	 3,829

Revenue from one major customer, with revenue equal to or more than 10% of Group revenue, amounts to RM12,980,000 (2013: 
RM11,207,000) arising from export sales.

31.	C ontingent liabilities

	C ompany

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Corporate guarantee given to licensed banks for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary	 121,710	 126,034
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32.	 Financial instruments

	 The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of market risks (including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall financial risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)	 Financial risk management policies
	

The Group’s policies in respect of the major areas of treasury activity are as follows:- 	

(i)	 Foreign currency risk
	
	 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions and balances that are denominated in currencies other 

than Ringgit Malaysia. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollar (“USD”), Euro Dollar 
(“Euro”) and Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). Foreign currency risk is monitored closely on an ongoing basis to ensure that the 
net exposure is at an acceptable level. On occasion, the Group enters into forward foreign currency contracts to hedge 
against its foreign currency risk. The Group also holds cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for 
working capital purposes.	

Foreign currency exposure

		  USD	E uro	SGD	T  otal

		R  M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

30.6.2014

Trade receivables	 	 14,533	 2	 395	 14,930

Other receivables	 	 1,185	 104	 118	 1,407

Cash and bank balances	 	 7,815	 16	 546	 8,377

Bankers’ acceptances	 	 -	 (5,170)	 -	 (5,170)

Trade payables	 	 (1,082)	 (1,579)	 (27)	 (2,688)

Other payables	 	 (6)	 (41)	 (1)	 (48)

Net exposure	 	 22,445	 (6,668)	 1,031	 16,808

30.6.2013

Trade receivables	 	 14,029	 (13)	 435	 14,451

Other receivables	 	 426	 4,251	 196	 4,873

Cash and bank balances	 	 7,308	 20	 698	 8,026

Bankers’ acceptances	 	 (3,188)	 -	 -	 (3,188)

Trade payables	 	 (821)	 (3,058)	 -	 (3,879)

Other payables	 	 (34)	 (21)	 -	 (55)

Net exposure	 	 17,720	 1,179	 1,329	 20,228
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a)	 Financial risk management policies (cont’d)

(i)	 Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

	 Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity analysis to a reasonably possible change in the foreign currencies as at the end 
of the reporting period, with all other variables held constant:-

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Effects on profit after taxation

USD/RM	 - strengthened by 5% (2013:5%)	 833	 684

	 - weakened by 5% (2013:5%)	 (833)	 (684)

 

 EUR/RM	 - strengthened by 5% (2013:5%)	 (253)	 90

	 - weakened by 5% (2013:5%)	 253	 (90)

SGD/RM	 - strengthened by 5% (2013:5%)	 40	 52

	 - weakened by 5% (2013:5%)	 (40)	 (52)

(ii)	 Interest rate risk	

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises mainly from interest-bearing financial 
assets and liabilities. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available. Any surplus funds of the 
Group will be placed with licensed financial institutions to generate interest income. 	

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis	

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower, with all other variables 
held constant, the Group’s profit after taxation would have been RM895,000 lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of 
higher/lower interest expense on floating rate bank borrowings. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate 
sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.

(iii)	 Credit risk	

The Group’s exposure to credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, arises mainly from trade and other receivables. 
The Group manages its exposure to credit risk by the application of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring 
procedures on an ongoing basis. For other financial assets (including cash and bank balances), the Group minimises 
credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. 
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a)	 Financial risk management policies (cont’d)

(iii)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of the 
trade and other receivables as appropriate. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that 
relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in 
respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. Impairment is estimated by management based on prior 
experience and the current economic environment.

The Group’s major concentration of credit risk relates to the amounts owing by one (1) (2013: one (1)) customer who 
has been actively trading with the Group for the past 11 years (2013: 10 years) which constituted approximately 19% 
(2013: 21%) of its trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period. As the Group does not hold any collateral, 
the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets as at the end of the 
reporting period.

The exposure of credit risk for trade receivables (including amount owing by related parties) by geographical region is 
as follows:-

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Local	 30,953	 34,032

Export	 14,930	 14,451

	 45,883	 48,483

Ageing analysis 	

			 
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables as at 30 June are as follows:- 	

	G ross	I ndividual	C arrying

	 amount	 impairment	 amount

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

30.6.2014

Not past due	 34,253	 -	 34,253

Past due:-

- less than 3 months	 10,709	 -	 10,709

- 3 to 6 months	 694	 -	 694

- more than 6 months	 1,888	 (1,661)	 227

	 47,544	 (1,661)	 45,883
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a)	 Financial risk management policies (cont’d)

(iii)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

Ageing analysis (cont’d)

	G ross	I ndividual	C arrying

	 amount	 impairment	 amount

	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

30.6.2013

Not past due	 38,397	 -	 38,397

Past due:-

- less than 3 months	 9,611	 -	 9,611

- 3 to 6 months	 325	 -	 325

- more than 6 months	 1,622	 (1,472)	 150

	 49,955	 (1,472)	 48,483

	At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables that are individually impaired were those in significant financial difficulties 
and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancement. 	

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired	

	

The Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these trade receivables. They are substantially 
companies with good collection track record and no recent history of default. 	

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired	

			 
A significant portion of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are regular customers that have been 
transacting with the Group. The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the trade receivables. Any 
receivables having significant balances past due or more than 120 days, which are deemed to have higher credit risk, are 
monitored individually.

(iv)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises mainly from general funding and business activities. The Group practises prudent risk management 
by maintaining sufficient cash balances and the availability of funding through certain committed credit facilities. 
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a)	 Financial risk management policies (cont’d)

(iv)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on 
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based 
on the rates at the end of the reporting period):-

	 Weighted	C ontractual
	 average	 undiscounted	 Within	 1 to 5	O ver
	 effective	 cash flows	 1 year	 years	 5 years
	 rate (%)	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

2014

Group

Bankers’ acceptances	 3.16	 11,825	 11,825	 -	 -
Revolving credit	 5.61	 15,059	 15,059	 -	 -
Hire purchase	 3.50	 2,663	 613	 2,050	 -
Term loans	 6.61	 152,031	 13,674	 51,015	 87,342
Bank overdrafts	 6.60	 2,359	 2,359	 -	 -
Trade payables	 -	 20,913	 20,913	 -	 -
Other payables	 -	 7,397	 7,397	 -	 -

	 	 212,247	 71,840	 53,065	 87,342

Company

Other payables	 -	 49	 49	 -	 -

2013

Group

Bankers’ acceptances	 4.23	 13,841	 13,841	 -	 -
Revolving credit	 5.63	 15,026	 15,026	 -	 -
Term loans	 6.59	 162,390	 8,467	 53,278	 100,645
Bank overdrafts	 7.12	 4,609	 4,609	 -	 -
Trade payables	 -	 18,644	 18,644	 -	 -
Other payables	 -	 8,708	 8,708	 -	 -
Derivative liabilities (forward currency contracts)
- net payments	 -	 62	 62	 -	 -

	 	 223,280	 69,357	 53,278	 100,645

Company

Other payables	 -	 49	 49	 -	 -
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b)	 Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to maintain an optimal capital structure so 
as to support their businesses and maximise shareholder(s) value. To achieve this objective, the Group may make adjustments 
to the capital structure in view of changes in economic conditions, such as adjusting the amount of dividend payment, 
returning of capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. 	

The Group manages its capital based on debt-to-equity ratio that complies with debt covenants and regulatory, if any. The 
debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as total net borrowings from financial institutions divided by total equity. 	

There was no change in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.	

The debt-to-equity ratio of the Group as at the end of the reporting period was as follows:- 	

	G roup

	  2014 	 2013 

 	R M’000 	R M’000

Bank overdrafts	 2,359	 4,609

Bankers’ acceptances	 11,825	 13,841

Hire purchase	 2,317	 -

Revolving credit	 15,059	 15,026

Term loans	 90,150	 92,558

	 121,710	 126,034

Less: Cash and bank balances	 (13,398)	 (16,321)

Net debt	 108,312	 109,713

Total equity	 119,063	 107,979

Debt-to-equity ratio	 0.91	 1.02

The Group did not breach any gearing requirement during the financial years ended 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2014.
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(c)	 Classification of financial instruments

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables financial assets

Trade receivables	 	 45,883	 48,483	 -	 -

Other receivables	 	 1,056	 928	 -	 -

Amounts due from subsidiaries	 	 -	 -	 269	 323

Cash and bank balances	 	 13,398	 16,321	 1,074	 2,958

	 	 60,337	 65,732	 1,343	 3,281

Fair value through profit or loss

Derivative assets	 	 87	 -	 -	 -

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

Bankers’ acceptances	 	 11,825	 13,841	 -	 -

Hire purchase	 	 2,317	 -	 -	 -

Revolving credit	 	 15,059	 15,026	 -	 -

Term loans	 	 90,150	 92,558	 -	 -

Bank overdrafts	 	 2,359	 4,609	 -	 -

Trade payables	 	 20,913	 18,644	 -	 -

Other payables	 	 7,397	 8,708	 49	 49

	 	 150,020	 153,386	 49	 49

Fair value through profit or loss

Derivative liabilities	 	 -	 62	 -	 -
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32.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(d)	 Fair value information

Other than those disclosed below, the fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities maturing within the next 12 
months approximated their carrying amounts due to the relatively short-term maturity of the financial instruments. The fair 
values are included in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
	
	 2014	 2013
	 Fair value of	C arrying	 Fair value of	C arrying
	 financial	 amount	 financial	 amount
	 instruments		  instruments
	 carried at		  carried at
	 fair value		  fair value
	L evel 2		L  evel 2
	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Financial assets
Derivative assets	 2,744	 2,831	 -	 -

Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities	 -	 -	 (4,751)	 (4,689)

The fair values above are for disclosure purposes and have been determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period with the resulting value discounted back to present value.
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33.	S upplementary information - disclosure of realised and unrealised profits

The breakdown of the retained profits of the Group and the Company as at the end of the reporting period into realised and 
unrealised profits are presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and prepared in 
accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of 
Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, 
as follows:-

	G roup 	C ompany 

	  	 2014 	 2013 	 2014 	 2013 

		R  M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000 	R M’000

Total retained profit:

- realised	 	 49,676	 42,886	 48,782	 48,966

- unrealised	 	 (619)	 394	 -	 -

Total Group retained earnings as at 30 June	 	 49,057	 43,280	 48,782	 48,966



89Annual report 2014 • Kotra Industries Berhad

LIST OF PROPERTIES

Title/
Location

Description
& Usage

Land area/
Existing Use Tenure

Built-Up 
Area (sq. m.)

Approximate 
Age of 

Building

Net Book Value
as at

June 30, 2014
RM

PN 24784 & PN 
20043. Lot 4835 & 
Lot 4836, Mukim 
of Cheng, District 
of Melaka Tengah, 
Melaka

Two joined plots 
of land with a 
single storey 
factory and two 
storey office block

Warehouse and 
production area

17,611 sq.m./ 
pharmaceutical 
manufacturing 
plant

Warehouse and 
production area

Leasehold 
expiring on 
14.8.2096

5,120.04

6,613.00

17 years

14 years

 11,192,649 

GPP 7972 & GPP 
5156, Lot Nos. 43 & 
45, Town Area III (3), 
District of Melaka 
Tengah, Melaka

Two plots of land 
with a 2 ½ storey 
office building, 
a store and a 
warehouse

2,252.10 sq.m./
office, store & 
warehouse

Freehold 1,539.31 Office & Store
- 22 years

 Warehouse
-18 years

 1,216,418 

Geran 4612, Lot No. 
42, Town Area III (3), 
District of Melaka 
Tengah, Melaka

Commercial site 
erected with a 
double storey 
shophouse cum 
storehouse

636.2 sq.m./ 
Double storey 
shophouse

Freehold 488.9 39 to 43 years  329,000 

PN46842. Lot 9262, 
Mukim of Cheng, 
District of Melaka 
Tengah, Melaka

Two plots of land 
ammalgamated 
into one plot with 
a three storey 
pharmaceutical 
factory

23,614 sq.m./ 
pharmaceutical 
manufacturing 
plant

Leasehold 
expiring on 
15.8.2096

 22,808 4 years  42,093,026 

 54,831,093 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 15th Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company will be held at the Auditorium Hall, Kotra 
Pharma Technology Centre, No. 2, Jalan TTC 12, Cheng Industrial Estate, 75250 Melaka on Wednesday, 3 December 2014 at 10.30a.m. 
for the following purposes:-

AGENDA

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 together with the 
Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

3.	 To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 97(1) of the Company’s Articles of 
Association, who being eligible, offered themselves for re-election:-

(a)	 Piong Teck Min
(b)	 Datuk Piong Teck Yen 

4.	 To re-appoint Crowe Horwath as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

5.	A s Special Business

To consider and if thought fit, with or without modification, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary 
Resolutions:-

Ordinary Resolution I
-	 Authority to Issue and Allot Shares 

That subject always to the approvals of the relevant authorities and pursuant to Section 132D of the 
Companies Act, 1965, the Directors be and are hereby authorised to issue and allot ordinary shares in 
the Company at any time, upon such terms and conditions, for such purposes and to such person(s) as 
the Directors may in their discretion deem fit provided that the aggregate number of ordinary shares to 
be issued does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total issued share capital of the Company at the 
time of issue and that such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution II
-	 Proposed Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

That pursuant to paragraph 10.09 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, the Company and/or its subsidiary companies (the Group) be and are hereby authorised to 
enter into and give effect to recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature as set out 
in Section 2.3.2(a) of the Circular to Shareholders dated 11 November 2014, which are necessary for 
the Group’s day-to-day operations in the ordinary course of business, on terms not more favorable than 
those generally available to the public and not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the Company.

That such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company, at which time it will lapse, 
unless authority is renewed by a resolution passed at the next AGM;

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required to be held pursuant to Section 
143(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 (the Act) (but shall not extend to such extension as may be 
allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 2(i)

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)
(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONT’D)

(iii)	 revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting, 
before the next AGM; 

whichever is the earlier.

And that the Directors of the Company be authorised to act for and on behalf of the Company, to take 
all such steps and execute all necessary documents as they may consider expedient or deem fit in the 
best interest of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this 
resolution.

Ordinary Resolution III
-	 Proposed New Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue 

or Trading Nature

That pursuant to paragraph 10.09 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, the Company and/or its subsidiary companies (the Group) be and are hereby authorised to 
enter into and give effect to Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature as set 
out in Section 2.3.2(b) of the Circular to Shareholders dated 11 November 2014, which are necessary for 
the Group’s day-to-day operations in the ordinary course of business, on terms not more favorable than 
those generally available to the public and not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the Company.

That such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company, at which time it will lapse, 
unless authority is renewed by a resolution passed at the next AGM;

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required to be held pursuant to Section 
143(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 (the Act) (but shall not extend to such extension as may be 
allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or

(iii)	 revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting, 
before the next AGM; 

whichever is the earlier.

And that the Directors of the Company be authorised to act for and on behalf of the Company, to take 
all such steps and execute all necessary documents as they may consider expedient or deem fit in the 
best interest of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this 
resolution.

6.	 To transact any other ordinary business of which due notice shall have been given in accordance with 
the Companies Act, 1965 and the Articles of Association of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Chua Siew Chuan (MAICSA 0777689)
Mak Chooi Peng (MAICSA 7017931)
Sean Ne Teo (LS 0008058)
Company Secretaries

Melaka
11 November 2014

(Resolution 7)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONT’D)

NOTES:

1.	A ppointment of Proxy

(i)	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 25 November 2014 
(“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting.

(ii)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint more than one proxy to attend and vote in his stead. 
A proxy may but does not need to be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149 (1)(b) of the Companies Act, 
1965 need not be complied with. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he 
specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the 
Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting. Notwithstanding this, a member entitled to attend 
and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of the member at the Meeting. 
There shall be no restriction as to the qualifications of the proxy.

(iii)	 In the case of a corporate member, the instrument appointing a proxy must be either under its common seal or under the hand 
of its officer or attorney duly authorised.

(iv) 	Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt 
authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

(v) The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at No. 60-1, Jalan Lagenda 5, 
Taman 1 Lagenda, 75400 Melaka not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the Meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

2.	E xplanatory Notes to Special Business:-

(i)	 Item 1 of the Agenda

The Agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 does not require a 
formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this Agenda item is not put forward for voting.

(ii) 	Proposed Ordinary Resolution I

The proposed Ordinary Resolution I, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue and allot not more than 10% 
of the Company’s total issued share capital speedily without having to convene a general meeting. This authority will, unless 
revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of 
the Company. 

Instances for which the Company may issue new shares within this general mandate include but not limited to the purpose(s) of 
raising fund through private placement for investments, working capital and/or acquisitions. 

This general mandate sought by the Company is to renew the general mandate granted to the Directors at the 14th AGM held on 
27 November 2013 to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.

As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the mandate granted to the Directors at the 
last AGM held on 27 November 2013 which will lapse at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.
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(iii) 	Proposed Ordinary Resolutions II & III
	
The proposed adoption of Ordinary Resolutions II & III are to renew the Shareholders’ Mandate granted by the shareholders 
of the Company at the 14th AGM held on 27 November 2013 and the proposed new Shareholders’ Mandate. The proposed 
Shareholders’ Mandates will enable the Group to enter into the Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading 
Nature which are necessary for the Group’s day-to-day operations, subject to the transactions being in the ordinary course of 
business and on normal commercial terms which are not more favorable to the related parties than those generally available to 
the public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the Company.

Further information on the proposed Ordinary Resolutions II & III are set out in the Circular to Shareholders dated 11 November 
2014.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONT’D)
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 9 October 2014

Authorised Share Capital	 : RM100,000,000.00 	
Issued and Paid Up Capital	 : RM66,099,561.50 	
Class of Share	 : Ordinary shares of RM0.50 each 	
Voting rights on show of hands	 : 1 vote 	
Voting rights on a poll	 : 1 vote per ordinary share held 	

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
	  No. of 		N  o. of   	
Size of Shareholdings	  Shareholders 	 % 	 shares held	 %

less than 100 shares	  71 	 7.23	  2,252 	 0.00
100 to 1,000 shares	  117 	 11.92	  51,215 	 0.04
1,001 to 10,000 shares	  524 	 53.36	  2,293,504 	 1.74
10,001 to 100,000 shares	  193 	 19.65	  5,443,452 	 4.12
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares	  76 	 7.74	  59,784,338 	 45.22
5% and above of issued shares	  1 	 0.10	  64,624,362 	 48.88
					   
Total	  982 	 100.00	  132,199,123 	 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
	  No. of Shares held 		
Name	  Direct 	 %	  Indirect 	 %
			 
Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn Bhd	  64,624,362 	 48.88	  -   	 0.00
Piong Teck Onn	  1,800,000 	 1.36	  64,624,362* 	 	 48.88

Total	  66,424,362 	 50.24	  64,624,362 	 48.88

Notes:
*	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interests in Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 

1965 (“the Act”).

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
	  No. of Shares held 
Name	  Direct 	 %	  Indirect 	 %
			 
Piong Teck Onn	  1,800,000 	 1.36	  64,624,362* 	 	 48.88
Piong Teck Min	  2,276,220 	 1.72	  64,998,212^ 	 	 49.17
Datuk Piong Teck Yen	  1,802,200 	 1.36	  64,624,362* 	 	 48.88
Chin Swee Chang	  1,800,000 	 1.36	  -   	 0.00
P’ng Beng Hoe	  -   	 0.00	  -   	 0.00
Azhar bin Hussain	  -   	 0.00	  -   	  0.00 
Piong Chee Kien (Alternate Director)	  -   	 0.00	  -   	  0.00

Notes:
*	 Deemed interested by virtue of their interests in Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 6A(4) of the Act.
^	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interests in Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 6A(4) of the Act and his wife 

(Tan Yeak Yan) and son (Piong Chee Keong) pursuant to Section 134(12) of the Act.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS (cont’d)
as at 9 October 2014

Thirty (30) Largest Shareholders

No.	N ame	  No. of shares 	 %

1	 Piong Nam Kim Holdings Sdn Bhd	  64,624,362 	  48.88 

2	 Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 

	 Amtrustee Berhad For Galleon Asset Limited (CS-Galleon)	  6,125,402 	  4.63

3	 Yong Soon Moi	  4,514,364 	  3.41 

4	 Malaysian Technology Development Corporation Sdn Bhd	  3,631,423 	  2.75 

5	 Platinum Essence Sdn. Bhd.	  3,109,140 	  2.35 

6	 Chin Ai Mei	  2,819,801 	  2.13 

7	 Piong Teck Min	  2,276,220 	  1.72 

8	 Kok Hon Seng	  2,063,860 	  1.56 

9	 Teo Kwee Hock	  2,045,700 	  1.55 

10	 Seah Tin Kim	  1,839,440 	  1.39 

11	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

	 Pledged Securities Account For Lim Kian Tiak (8039574)	  1,829,500 	  1.38

12	 Lin Ah Lan	  1,825,360 	  1.38 

13	 Piong Teck Yen	  1,802,200 	  1.36 

14	 Piong Teck Onn	  1,800,000 	  1.36 

15	 Chin Swee Chang	  1,800,000 	  1.36 

16	 Cresdel Holdings Sdn Bhd	  1,664,060 	  1.26 

17	 Ho Jonathan Lep Kee	  1,210,000 	  0.92 

18	 Jf Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

	 Pledged Securities Account For Teo Siew Lai (Margin)	  984,600 	  0.74

19	 Piong Teck Wah	  770,220 	  0.58 

20	 Triple Boutique Sdn Bhd	  763,000 	  0.58 

21	 Omar bin Md Khir	  700,960 	  0.53 

22	 Cheah Ming Loong	  577,900 	  0.44 

23	 Chai Pin Koon	  550,000 	  0.42 

24	 Piong Teck Fong	  538,560 	  0.41 

25	 Chin Kee Kwong	  514,800 	  0.39 

26	 Chin Chee Min	  512,600 	  0.39 

27	 Tan Lean Gin	  512,600 	  0.39 

28	 See Leong Chye @ Sze Leong Chye	  500,000 	  0.38 

29	 See Ewe Beng	  500,000 	  0.38 

30	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

	 Pledged Securities Account For Pharmex Sdn Bhd (8082917)	  497,300 	  0.38	
	

	 Total	  112,903,372 	  85.40 
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CDS ACCOUNT NO.

NUMBER OF SHARES HELD

I/We _________________________________________________________________NRIC No./Company No.______________________________

of (full address) ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________

being a Member/Members of KOTRA INDUSTRIES BERHAD, hereby appoint _____________________________________________________

NRIC No._________________________________________of____________________________________________________________________________

or failing *him/her, ___________________________________________ NRIC No. ____________________________of________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

or failing *him/her, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our proxy to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the 15th Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held at the Auditorium Hall, Kotra Pharma Technology Centre, No. 2, Jalan TTC 12, Cheng 
Industrial Estate, 75250 Melaka on Wednesday, 3 December 2014 at 10.30 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof.

No. Resolution

A To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 together with the Reports of the 
Directors and the Auditors thereon.

No. Resolutions For Against

1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

2. To re-elect Piong Teck Min who retires pursuant to Article 97(1) of the Company’s Articles of 
Association.

3. To re-elect Datuk Piong Teck Yen who retires pursuant to Article 97(1) of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

4. To re-appoint Crowe Horwath as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

5. Special Business
Ordinary Resolution
- Authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.

6. Special Business
Ordinary Resolution
- Proposed Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

7. Special Business
Ordinary Resolution
- Proposed New Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a 
Revenue or Trading Nature

* Strike out whichever not applicable.

Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided above how you wish your votes to be casted. If no specific direction as to voting is 
given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion.

As witness my/our hand(s) this _________ day of ___________________ 2014.

_______________________________________

	 Signature of Member/Common Seal 
Notes:
(i)	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of 

Depositors on 25 November 2014 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible 
to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting.

(ii)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint more than one 
proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but does not need to be a member of the 
Company and the provisions of Section 149 (1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 need not be 
complied with. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be 
invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented by each 
proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the same rights as the 
member to speak at the Meeting. Notwithstanding this, a member entitled to attend and vote 
at the Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of the 
member at the Meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualifications of the proxy.

(iii)	 In the case of a corporate member, the instrument appointing a proxy must be either under its 
common seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised.

(iv) 	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary 
shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus 
account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

(v) 	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company 
at No. 60-1, Jalan Lagenda 5, Taman 1 Lagenda, 75400 Melaka not less than 48 hours before 
the time for holding the Meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

FORM OF PROXY

KOTRA INDUSTRIES BERHAD
(Company No. 497632-P)
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 



Fold this flap for sealing

Then fold here

Affix 
stamp

	

The Company Secretary
KOTRA INDUSTRIES BERHAD
(497632-P)

No. 60-1, Jalan Lagenda 5,
Taman 1 Lagenda,
75400 Melaka
Malaysia

1st fold here



www.kotrapharma.com www.appeton.com

KOTRA INDUSTRIES BERHAD (497632-P)

No. 1, 2, & 3, Jalan TTC 12,
Cheng Industrial Estate, 75250 Melaka.
Tel	 : 606-336 2222
Fax	 : 606-336 6122




